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November 1, 2023
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Members of the Board of Education
Mercer County School District
Harrodsburg, Kentucky

Report on the Financial Statements
Opinions

We have audited the accompanying financial statésnafinthe governmental activities, the businesgtyp
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate irnga fund information of Mercer County School
District as of and for the year ended June 30, 2@R8 the related notes to the financial statements
which collectively comprise Mercer County Schookfict's basic financial statements as listed i@ th
table of contents.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredabove present fairly, in all material respechs t
respective financial position of the governmentdivities, the business-type activities, each méjod,
and the aggregate remaining fund information ofddeCounty School District, as of June 30, 2028, an
the respective changes in financial position, avitere applicable, cash flows thereof for the ybant
ended in accordance with accounting principles gdlyeaccepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with audistagndards generally accepted in the United Stdtes o
America and the standards applicable to finanaialita contained irGovernment Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the UnitedeSt®\ppendix | to the Independent Auditor's Contract
— Audit Extension Request, Appendix Il to the leddent Auditor's Contract — Instructions for
Submission of the Audit Contract, Audit AcceptaBtatement, AFR and Balance Sheet, Statement of
Certification, and Audit Report.Our responsibilities under those standards atb@du described in the
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Rincial Statements section of our report. We are
required to be independent of the Mercer Countyo8kBistrict and to meet our ethical responsilkti

in accordance with the relevant ethical requiremeptating to our audit. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and apjmatpto provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Change in Accounting Principle
As described in Note A to the financial statemems2023, the District adopted new guidance, GASB

statement No. 96Subscription-Based Information Technology ArrangeisieOur opinion is not
modified with respect to this matter.



Responsibilities of Management for the Financial&@ements

Management is responsible for the preparation aidpresentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generallyeptad in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of intemwitrol relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are freen material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, managensergquired to evaluate whether there are conditions
events, considered in the aggregate, that raissamntial doubt about the Mercer County School iit$r
ability to continue as a going concern for twelventins beyond the financial statement date, inclydin
any currently known information that may raise $absal doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of Finanal Statement

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurdmmat avhether the financial statements as a whae ar
free from material misstatement, whether due todrar error, and to issue an auditor’'s report that
includes our opinions. Reasonable assuranceighddvel of assurance but is not absolute asserand
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conduicteaccordance with generally accepted auditing
standards and Government Auditing Standards wilgé detect a material misstatement when it exists.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatemesulting from fraud is higher than for one resugjtin
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgemgtentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control. Misstatements arasidered material if there is a substantial liketitd that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would inflee the judgement made by a reasonable user based o
the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generalycepted auditing standards and Government
Auditing Standards, we:

o Exercise professional judgement and maintain psidesal skepticism throughout the audit.

¢ Identify and assess the risk of material misstatgroéthe financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, and design and perform audit pracesl responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basisgeaei regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relévenm the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstartmgt not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of Mercer County S¢haistrict’s internal control. Accordingly,
no such opinion is expressed.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting poliosgexl and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as weNalsate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

e Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are canditor events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Mercer Go&ahool District’'s ability to continue as a
going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those chargéd governance, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit, significant auditdfings, and certain internal-control matters that w
identified during the audit.



Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in thetebhiStates of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis, budgetary comparisonrirdtion, schedules of the district's proportiondtars

of net pension liabilities, and the schedules @ thstrict’'s proportionate share of net other post-
employment benefits on pages 4 through 10, 58 @iro6l, and 64 through 66 be presented to
supplement the basic financial statements. Suchnrdtion is the responsibility of management and,
although not a part of the basic financial stataseis required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board, who considers it to be an es$qudra of financial reporting for placing the basic
financial statements in an appropriate operatioeagnomic, or historical context. We have applied
certain limited procedures to the required supplgary information in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United State®\noerica, which consisted of inquiries of
management about the methods of preparing the niaiton and comparing the information for
consistency with management’'s responses to ouririaguthe basic financial statements, and other
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the béig@ncial statements. We do not express an opinion
or provide any assurance on the information bec#iusdimited procedures do not provide us with
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or pre\ady assurance.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forntiptpions on the financial statements that colledyiv
comprise the Mercer County School District’s bdgiancial statements. The accompanying combining
and individual nonmajor fund financial statemerntse statement of receipts, disbursements and fund
balance — High School Activity Fund, and the schedd expenditures of federal awards, as requised b
Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal RegulationPart 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Adgaare presented for purposes of additional analysis
and are not a required part of the basic finarstalements. Such information is the responsibdity
management and was derived from and related diréztthe underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the basic financial statementse ifformation has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic fir@nstatements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such informatidirectly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial stattnoe to the basic financial statements themsgbed
other additional procedures in accordance withtangdstandards generally accepted in the UniteteSta
of America. In our opinion, the combining and widual nonmajor fund financial statements and the
schedule of expenditures of federal awards arby fstiated, in all material respects, in relatiothte basic
financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance witlisovernment Auditing Standardse have also issued our report dated November 1,
2023, on our consideration of Mercer County ScHaistrict’s internal control over financial reporgn
and on our tests of its compliance with certainvigions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
agreements and other matters. The purpose ofapatt is solely to describe the scope of our ngstif
internal control over financial reporting and corapte and the results of that testing, and notrdweige

an opinion on the effectiveness of the Mercer CpBtthool District’s internal control over financial
reporting or on compliance. That report is an irdégart of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standardis considering Mercer County School District’'samal control over
financial reporting and compliance.

Sincerely,
White and Company, P.S.C.

Certified Public Accountants



MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A)
Year Ended June 30, 2023

As management of the Mercer County School District (District), we offer readers of the District's
financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the District for
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. We encourage readers to consider the information presented
here in conjunction with additional information found within the body of the financial statements.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

e The General Fund’'s beginning fund balance was $5,618,847. The ending fund balance
was $6,965,946. General fund revenues showed an increase of $3,058,047 and
expenditures showed an increase of $2,800,549 as compared with the prior year. The
General Fund transferred $53,532 to the Special Revenue Fund for the technology grant
match. The General Fund received $645,877 from the Building Fund to offset General
Fund debt payments, $254,910 from Capital Outlay specifically for debt payments,
$88,563 from the Food Service Fund for]] Indirect Costs, and $93,068 from the Special
Revenue funds for Indirect Costs.

e The District had $44.6 million in revenue and $41.9 million in expenses.

e The District increased the total amount due on bonds by $7.06 million with the addition of
the Athletic Project bonding in fiscal year 2023. Bond payments for fiscal year 2023
totaled $2.54 million in principal payments and $882,507 in interest payments, totaling
$3.42 million. With current bond obligations, the amount of restricted bond payments
including interest due in fiscal year 2024 totals $3.39 million.

e The District’s total net position increased $2.7 million to $14.9 million. Current assets
increased by $2.3 million, non-current assets increased by $5.4 million, and total liabilities
increased by $7.8 million as compared to the prior year.



OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the District’s basic financial
statements. The District’s basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) district-wide
financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This
report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements
themselves.

District-wide financial statements - The district-wide financial statements are designed to
provide readers with a broad overview of the District’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-
sector business.

The statement of net position presents information on all of the District's assets and liabilities, with
the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net
position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the district is improving or
deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the District's net position changed
during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the
underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.
Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in
cash flows in future fiscal periods.

The district-wide financial statements outline functions of the District that are principally supported
by property taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities). The governmental
activities of the District include instruction, support services, operation and maintenance of plant,
student transportation and operation of non-instructional services. Fixed assets and related debt
are also supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues.

The district-wide financial statements can be found on pages 11 - 12 of this report.

Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain
control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. This is a state
mandated uniform system and chart of accounts for all Kentucky public school districts utilizing the
MUNIS administrative software. The District uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate
compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of the District can be divided
into three categories: governmental, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are trust
funds established by benefactors to aid in student education, welfare and teacher support. The only
proprietary funds are our day care and food service operations. All other activities of the district are
included in the governmental funds.

The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 13 - 19 of this report.
Notes to the financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a
full understanding of the data provided in the district-wide and fund financial statements. The notes
to the financial statements can be found on pages 20 - 53 of this report.

DISTRICT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. In the

case of the District, assets and deferred outflows exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows by $14.9
million as of June 30, 2023.



The largest portion of the District’s net position reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land
and improvements, buildings and improvements, vehicles, furniture and equipment), less any
related debt used to acquire those assets that are still outstanding. The District uses these capital
assets to provide services to its students; consequently, these assets are not available for future
spending. Although the District's investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it
should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources,
since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

The District’s financial position is the product of several financial transactions including the net
results of activities, the acquisition and payment of debt, the acquisition and disposal of capital
assets, and the depreciation of capital assets.

Net Position for the period ending June 30, 2023 an  d June 30, 2022

A comparison of June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022 government wide net position is as follows:

Governmental Business - Type Total
Activities Activities Primary Government
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Current and Other Assets 8,879,724 6,744,953 2,429,716 2,218,205 11,309,440 8,963,158
Capital Assets 52,996,058 47,579,725 593,016 586,667 53,589,074 48,166,392
Deferred Outflows 6,834,727 4,114,367 497,705 380,573 7,332,432 4,494,940
Total Assets and Def Outflows 68,710,509 58,439,045 3,520,437 3,185,445 72,230,946 61,624,490
Current Liabilities 4,040,445 3,818,283 19,000 1,171 4,059,445 3,819,454
Non-Current Liabilities 46,653,189 39,185,446 1,527,249 1,385,796 48,180,438 40,571,242
Deferred Inflows 4,741,502 4,637,693 340,041 401,221 5,081,543 5,038,914
Total Liabilities and Def Inflows 55,435,136 47,641,422 1,886,290 1,788,188 57,321,426 49,429,610
Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 21,693,696 20,361,233 593,016 586,667 22,286,712 20,947,900
Restricted 1,019,491 355,496 1,204,893 984,231 2,224,384 1,339,727
Unrestricted (9,437,814)  (9,919,106) (163,762) (173,641) (9,601,576) (10,092,747)
Total Net Position $13,275,373 $10,797,623 $1,634,147 $1,397,257 $14,909,520 $12,194,880




The following table presents a comparison of revenues, expenses and changes in net position for
the fiscal years ended June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022.

Governmental Business — Type Total
Activities Activities Primary Government
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
REVENUES
Program revenues
Charges for services 32,227 7,644 136,726 136,587 168,953 144,231
Operating grants and contributions 5,797,768 5,075,118 2,612,848 2,636,251 8,410,616 7,711,369
Capital grants 80,140 53,538 0 0 80,140 53,538
General revenues
Property taxes 9,766,408 9,359,996 0 0 9,766,408 9,359,996
Motor vehicle taxes 1,127,429 960,467 0 0 1,127,429 960,467
Utility Taxes 1,810,154 1,458,738 0 0 1,810,154 1,458,738
Other taxes 7,195 90,363 0 0 7,195 90,363
Investment earnings 66,555 43,177 11,653 10,189 78,208 53,366
State and formula grants 22,323,925 19,519,867 0 0 22,323,925 19,519,867
Miscellaneous 809,520 621,047 1,085 0 810,605 621,047
Fund Transfer 88,563 67,607 (88,563) (67,607) 0 0
Gain (Loss) on Sale of Assets 10,099 41,315 0 0 10,099 41,315
Total revenues 41,919,983 37,298,877 2,673,749 2,715,420 44,593,732 40,014,297
EXPENSES
Program Activities
Instructional 25,371,643 22,537,975 0 0 25,371,643 22,537,975
Student support 1,418,338 1,194,988 0 0 1,418,338 1,194,988
Instructional staff Support 1,246,542 1,206,786 0 0 1,246,542 1,206,786
District administrative support 1,204,683 1,045,813 0 0 1,204,683 1,045,813
School administrative support 2,418,151 2,028,433 0 0 2,418,151 2,028,433
Business support 886,427 741,466 0 0 886,427 741,466
Plant operations and maintenance 2,783,013 2,633,233 0 0 2,783,013 2,633,233
Student transportation 2,553,502 2,378,673 0 0 2,553,502 2,378,673
Community service activities 439,815 354,049 0 0 439,815 354,049
Other 22,437 43,499 0 0 22,437 43,499
Interest costs 1,097,682 967,778 0 0 1,097,682 967,778
Business-type Activities
Food service 0 0 2,339,389 1,929,519 2,339,389 1,929,519
Day Care 0 0 97,470 275,051 97,470 275,051
Total expenses 39,442,233 35,132,693 2,436,859 2,204,570 41,879,092 37,337,263
Change in net position 2,477,750 2,166,184 236,890 510,850 2,714,640 2,677,034




On-behalf amounts are included in the above figures. On-behalf payments are payments the state
makes on behalf of employees to the various agencies for health and life insurance, benefits,
administration fees, technology and debt service. The total on-behalf payments for 2023 and 2022
were $9,655,329 and $7,741,096 respectively.

Governmental Activities

For the governmental program expenses, instructional expenses comprise 64% of total expenses,
support services equate to 32%, and interest and other expenses make up the remaining 4% of the
total.

The cost of program services and the charges for services and grants offsetting those services are
shown on the Statement of Activities. The Statement of activities identifies the net cost of services
supported by tax revenue and unrestricted intergovernmental revenues (state entitlements).

Governmental Activities Total Governmental Activities Net
Cost of Services Cost of Services
2023 2022 2023 2022
Instructional 25,371,643 22,537,975 21,215,465 18,460,320
Support Services 12,533,093 11,272,891 11,267,087 10,618,003
Other 439,815 354,049 1,973 3,830
Interest Costs 1,097,682 967,778 1,047,573 914,240
Total Expenses 39,442,233 35,132,693 33,532,098 29,996,393

Business-Type Activities

The business type activities consist of the food service program and the daycare program. The
food service program had total revenues of $2,654,963 and expenses of $2,427,952 for fiscal year
2023. These revenues were made up of $42,550 in lunchroom sales, $1,085 in operating revenues,
$2,599,675 federal and state operating grants and donated commaodities, and $11,653 earnings on
investments. The daycare program had total revenues of $107,349 and expenses of $97,470 for
fiscal year 2023. These revenues were made up of $94,176 in tuition payments and $13,173 in
state revenue.

These business-type activities receive no support from tax revenues, and, as such, the District will
continue to monitor these activities and make the necessary adjustments to the operations of these
activities.

The School District's Funds

The information relative to the School District's Funds starts on page 13. These funds use the
modified accrual basis of accounting to account for each fund’s revenues and expenses. The
combined revenue and other financing sources for all governmental funds for 2023 was
$53,274,627 and expenditures and other financing uses were $51,284,917.



General Fund Budgetary Highlights

The District’'s budget is based on accounting for certain transactions on the cash basis for receipts
and expenditures and encumbrances and is prepared according to Kentucky law. The Kentucky
Department of Education requires a zero-based budget with any remaining fund balance to be
shown as a contingency expense in the budgeting process.

The most significant budgeted fund is the General Fund. The general fund had budgeted revenues
of $21,895,186 plus a beginning budgeted balance of $4,900,000. Actual general fund revenues
and other sources were $32,063,879. Budgeted expenditures were $23,213,140 and budgeted
contingency was $3,582,046 for a total of $26,795,186 compared to actual expenditures and other
uses of $30,716,780. These actuals include the state on-behalf payments in the amount of
$9,347,378 for the general fund, which were not budgeted.

Future Budgetary Implications

In Kentucky, the public schools fiscal year is July 1 — June 30; other programs, i.e. some federal
programs operate on a different fiscal calendar, but are reflected in the District overall budget. By
law, the budget must have a minimum 2% contingency. The District adopted a budget for 2022-
2023 with a contingency above 2%. The District has also adopted a budget for 2023-24 with a

contingency above 2%.

The Board’s obligation for contribution to the Kentucky Retirement System for classified
employees had a contribution change of .16% for FY 2023 at 26.79% from 26.95% in FY 2022.
The Board’s obligation for contribution to the Kentucky Retirement System for classified
employees has a decrease for FY 2024 from 26.79% to 23.34%. The Kentucky Teachers
Retirement implemented changes in tiers starting in January 2022. The following rates now apply
for the employer:

Tier 1 = 3% and 16.105% for federal grants matching
Tier 2 = 3% and 16.105% for federal grants matching
Tier 3 = 3% and 17.105% for federal grants matching
Tier 4 = 3% and 13.75% for federal grants matching

The SEEK base funding had an increase of $100 per pupil and totals $4,100 per pupil in FY
2022-2023. The General Fund will be closely monitored to support District staffing.

CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION
Capital Assets

At the end of the 2023 fiscal year, the District had invested $53,589,074 in a broad range of
capital assets, including equipment, buses, buildings, and land net of accumulated depreciation.
This amount represents a net increase of $5,422,682. Depreciation expense for the year was
$2,308,481 and capital additions were $7,731,163 including the new Athletic Facilities.



The following table shows capital assets net of depreciation for the governmental activities,

business-type activities and total primary government for fiscal years ended June 30, 2023 and

2022.

Business - Type Total Primary Government

Activities (Net of
Depreciation)

Governmental

Activities (Net of Depreciation) (Net of Depreciation)

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Land 1,921,384 1,467,246 1,921,384 1,467,246
Construction In Progress 6,657,118 306,684 6,657,118 306,684
Buildings and 41,174,040 42,801,223 0 0 41,174,040 42,801,223
Improvements
Technology 930,280 1,162,569 0 0 930,280 1,162,569
Vehicles 1,925,706 1,434,690 0 0 1,925,706 1,434,690
General Equipment 387,530 407,313 593,016 586,667 980,546 993,980
Total 52,996,058 47,579,725 593,016 586,667 53,589,074 48,166,392
The table below shows the changes in capital assets for fiscal years ended June 30, 2023 and
2022.
Governmental Business - Type Total
Activities Activities Primary Government
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
E:ﬁ;::éng 47,579,725 49,310,232 586,667 268,490 48,166,392 49,578,722
Additions 7,669,993 569,572 61,170 363,178 7,731,163 932,750
Retirements 0 (608) 0 0 0 (608)
Depreciation (2,253,660) (2,299,471) (54,821) (45,001) (2,308,481) (2,344,472)
Ending Balance 52,996,058 47,579,725 593,016 586,667 53,589,074 48,166,392

Long-Term Debt

At year-end the District had $30,350,000 in bonds outstanding and $1,083,560 in capital lease
obligations. Bonded debt principal paid for the year ended June 30, 2023 was $2,540,000. There
was a new construction bond in the amount of $7,060,000 added in fiscal year 2023. The District
did not enter into any new capital lease agreements during fiscal year 2023. A total of $2,819,763
is due within one year for principal payment on bonds and capital leases.

Contacting the District's Financial Management

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers and other interested readers with
a general overview of the District's finances and to demonstrate the District's accountability for the
money it receives. If you have questions about this report or need additional financial information
contact the District's Superintendent or Finance Director.



MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2023

ASSETS:

Cash & Cash Equivalents - Note C
Accounts Receivable:

Taxes - Current

Taxes - Delinquent

Accounts

Intergovernmental - Federal
Inventories for Consumption

Total Current Assets

Noncurrent Assets - Note F
Land
Buildings & Improvements
Furniture & Equipment
Construction in Progress
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Total Noncurrent Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

Deferred Outflows Related to Pensions
Deferred Outflows Related to Other Post Employniamefits
Deferred Outflows Related to Advanced Bond Refugslin

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS

LIABILITIES:
Current Liabilities:
Accounts Payable
Accrued Salaries & Payroll Liabilities
Accrued Sick Leave - Note A
Advances from Grantors
Bond Obligations - Note D
Capital Lease Obligation - Note E
Accrued Interest Payable
Total Current Liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Bond Obligations - Note D
Capital Lease Obligation - Note E
Net Pension Liability
Net Other Post Employment Benefits Liability
Accrued Sick Leave - Note A
Total Noncurrent Liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

Deferred Inflows Related to Pensions
Deferred Inflows Related to Other Post Employmesndits
TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS

NET POSITION:
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted for:
Capital Projects
School Activities
Student Activities
SFCC Escrow
Food Service
Unrestricted

TOTAL NET POSITION

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

GOVERNMENTAL  BUSINESS-TYPE
ACTIVITIES ACTIVITIES TOTAL
7,734,301 2,119,906 9,854,207
490,995 0 490,995
32,952 0 32,952
23,912 0 23,912
597,564 264,943 862,507
0 44,867 44,867
8,879,724 2,429,716 11,309,440
1,921,384 0 1,921,384
75,545,075 0 75,545,075
9,356,005 833,042 10,189,047
6,657,118 0 6,657,118
(40,483 524) (240,026) (40,723,550)
52,996,058 593,016 53,589,074
61,875,782 3,022,732 64,898,514
1,954,683 318,845 2,273,528
4,576,084 178,860 4,754,944
303,960 0 303,960
6,834,727 497,705 7,332,432
68,710,509 3,5374 72,230,946
44,333 19,000 63,333
8,664 0 8,664
174,676 0 174,676
666,614 0 666,614
2,610,000 0 2,610,000
209,673 0 209,673
326,485 0 326,485
4,040,445 19,000 4,059,445
27,608,802 0 27,608,802
873,887 0 873,887
8,218,399 1,204,620 9,423,019
332,392 322,629 9,655,021
619,709 0 619,709
46,653,189 1,527,249 48,180,438
50,693,634 1,546,249 52,239,883
1,175,001 160,767 1,335,768
3,566,501 179,274 3,745,775
4,741,502 340,041 5,081,543
55,435,136 185,290 57,321,426
21,693,696 593,016 22,286,712
427,191 0 427,191
539,314 0 539,314
51,257 0 51,257
1,729 0 1,729
0 1,204,893 1,204,893
(9,437,814) (163,762) (9,601,576)
13,275,373 1,634,147 14,909,520
68,710,509 3,52097 72,230,946

See independent auditor's report and accompanyitgs o financial statements.

11



FUNCTION/PROGRAMS

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES:
Instructional
Support Services:
Student Support Services
Staff Support Services
District Administration
School Administration
Business Support Services
Plant Operation & Maintenance
Student Transportation
Food Service Operations
Community Service Operations
Interest on Long-Term Debt
TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES:
Food Service
Daycare
TOTAL BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES

TOTAL SCHOOL DISTRICT

GENERAL REVENUES:

Taxes:

Property

Motor Vehicle

Utility

Other
State Aid - Formula Grants
Investment Earnings
Fund Transfer (Expense)
Miscellaneous
Gain (Loss) on Sale of Assets

TOTAL GENERAL REVENUES
CHANGE IN NET POSITION

NET POSITION - BEGINNING
NET POSITION - ENDING

MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRIC
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 20.

PROGRAM REVENUES

IN NET POSITION

NET(EXPENSE) REVENUE AND CHANGES

OPERATING CAPITAL
CHARGES FOR GRANTS AND GRANTS AND GOVERNMENTAL  BUSINESTYPE
EXPENSES SERVICES  CONTRIBUTIONS KTRIBUTIONS ACTIVITIES ACTIVITIES TOTAL
25,371,643 29,759 4,126,419 (21,21%),46 (21,215,465)
1,418,338 64,597 (17233 (1,353,741)
1,246,542 247,471 (999,071) (999,071)
1,204,683 (1,204,683) (1,204,683)
2,418,151 (2,418,151) (2,418,151)
886,427 11 (886,416) (886,416)
2,783,013 150 138, 30,031 (2,568,696) (2,568,696)
2,553,502 2,318 721,872 ,820,312) (1,829,312)
22,437 15,420 (7,017) (7,017)
439,815 437,842 (1,973) (1,973)
1,097,682 50,109 (1,047,573) (1,047,573)
39,442,233 32,227 5,79768 80,140 (33,532,098) (33,532,098)
2,339,389 42,550 2,599,675 302,836
97,470 94,176 13,173 9,879 9,879
2,436,859 136,726 2,6328 0 0 312,715 9,879
41,879,092 168,953 8,410,616 0,1 (33,532,098) 312,715 (33,522,219)
9,766,408 9,766,408
1,127,429 1,127,429
1,810,154 1,810,154
7,195 7,195
22,323,925 22,323,925
66,555 11,653 78,208
88,563 (88,563) 0
809,520 1,085 810,605
10,099 0 10,099
36,009,848 (75,825) 35,934,023
2,477,750 236,890 2,714,640
10,797,623 1,397,257 12,194,880
13,275,373 1,634,147 14,909,520

See independent auditor's report and accompanyitas o financial statements.
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MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2023

OTHER TOTAL
GENERAL SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION GOVERNMENTAL @/ERNMENTAL
FUND REVENUE FUND FUNDS FUNDS
ASSETS:
Cash & Cash Equivalents 6,645,760 69,050 427,191 ,3692 7,734,301
Accounts Receivable:
Taxes - Current 490,995 490,995
Taxes - Delinquent 32,952 32,952
Accounts 23,912 23,912
Intergovernmental - Federal 597,564 597,564
TOTAL ASSETS 7,193,619 666,614 427,191 592,300 8,87,72
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE:
Liabilities:
Accounts Payable 44,333 44,333
Accrued Salaries & Sick Leave 183,340 183,340
Advances from Grantors 666,614 666,614
Total Liabilities 227,673 666,614 0 0 894,287
Fund Balance:
Restricted for:
Capital Projects 427,191 427,191
School Activities 539,314 539,314
Student Activities 51,257 51,257
SFCC Escrow 1,729 1,729
Committed For:
Site Based Carryforward 49,316 49,316
Accrued Sick Leave 619,709 619,709
Unassigned 6,296,921 6,296,921
Total Fund Balance 6,965,946 0 427,191 592,300 7,985,437
7,193,619 666,614 427,191 592,300 8,879,724

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

See independent auditor's report and accompanyites o financial statements.
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MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAIFUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2023

Amounts reported for governmental activities in stetement of net position are different because:

TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCE 7,985,437

Capital assets used in governmental digtsvare not financial resources
and therefore are not reported as assetsviernmental funds.
Cost of Capital Assets

93,479,582

Accumulated Depreciation (40,483,524) 52,996,058
Deferred Outflows Related to Bond Refuggiare not current assets
and therefore are not reported as assegsviernmental funds. 303,960
Deferred Outflows Related to Pensionsatecurrent assets
and therefore are not reported as assetsviernmental funds. 1,954,683
Deferred Outflows Related to Other Pospkryment Benefits are not
current assets and therefore are not regph@s assets in governmental funds. 4,576,084

Long-term liabilities (including bonds fdfe) are not due and payable in the
current period and therefore are not reggbas liabilities in the funds.
Long-term liabilities at year end consift

Bonds Payable

(30,350,000)

Unamortized Bond Premiums (131,490)

Unamortized Bond Discounts 262,688

Capital Lease Obligation (1,083,560)

Accrued Interest on Bonds (326,485)

Net Pension Liability (8,218,399)

Net Other Post Employment Benéfitility (9,332,392)

Accrued Sick Leave (619,709) (49,799,347)
Deferred Inflows Related to Other Post Eipment Benefits are not current
liabilities and therefore are not reporésdiabilities in governmental funds. (3,566,501)
Deferred Inflows Related to Pensions artecarrent liabilities
and therefore are not reported as liabdliln governmental funds. (1,175,001)

TOTAL NET POSITION - GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 13,275,373

See independent auditor's report and accompanyites o financial statements.
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MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES FRUND BALANCES

REVENUES:
Taxes:
Property
Motor Vehicle
Utility
Other
Earnings on Investments
Intergovernmental - State
Intergovernmental - Federal
Other Sources
TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENDITURES:
Instructional
Support Services:
Student Support Services
Staff Support Services
District Administration
School Administration
Business Support Services
Plant Operation & Maintenance
Student Transportation
Food Service Operation
Community Service Operations
Facilities Acquisition & Construction
Debt Service:
Principal
Interest
TOTAL EXPENDITURES
EXCESS(DEFICIT) REVENUES OVER
EXPENDITURES

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES(USES):
Proceeds from Sale of Assets
Bond Proceeds
Bond Discount
Operating Transfers In - Note N
Operating Transfers Out - Note N
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES
FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING

FUND BALANCES - ENDING

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

OTHER TOTAL
SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION GOVERNMENTAL GOVERNMENTAL
GENERAL REVENUE FUND FUNDS FUNDS
7,361,104 2,405,304 9,766,408
1,127,429 1,127,429
1,810,154 1,810,154
7,195 7,195
47,600 872 18,083 66,555
20,451,064 1,538,744 1,917,990 23,907,798
4,980 4,289,055 4,294,035
161,836 64,922 614,989 841,747
30,971,362 5,893,593 18,083 4,938,283 821,321
18,398,717 4,145,011 542,541 23,086,269
1,288,978 64,888 1,353,866
941,260 248,586 30,045 18919,
1,194,960 1,194,960
2,349,293 2,349,293
874,254 12 874,266
3,009,199 147,858 3,157,057
2,281,167 725,124 64,528 B090,
6,948 15,489 22,437
439,815 439,815
67,274 6,283,161 6,358,43
285,026 2,540,000 2,825,026
30,546 882,507 913,053
30,660,348 5,854,057 6,283,161 4,689 46,857,187
311,014 39,536 (6,265,078) 878,662 (5,035,866)
10,099 10,099
7,060,000 7,060,000
(133,086) (133,086)
1,082,418 53,532 320 4,383,207
(56,432) (93,068) 43,144) (4,294,644)
1,036,085 (39,536) 6,9261 (897,887) 7,025,576
1,347,099 0 661,836 (19,325 1,989,710
5,618,847 0 (234,645) 611,525 5,995,727
6,965,946 0 427,191 592,300 7,965

See independent auditor's report and accompanying ndteartoial statements.
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MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERWENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Amounts reported for governmental activities in stetement of net position are different because:
NET CHANGES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 1,989,710

Governmental funds report capital outlagyexpenditures because they

use current financial resources. Howeiveihe statement of activities,

the cost of those assets is allocated ihnedr estimated useful lives

and reported as depreciation expenses i$hhe amount by which

capital exceeds depreciation expensenhfoyear.
Depreciation Expense (2,253,660)
Capital Outlays 7,669,993

5,416,333

Bond proceeds and capital leases aretexpas financing sources in

governmental funds and thus contributdnéochange in fund balance. In

the statement of net position, howevewiisg debt increases long-term

liabilities and does not affect the staeatof activities. Similarly, repayment

of principal is an expenditure in the gowaental funds but reduces the

liability in the statement of net position
Principal Paid 2,825,026
Bond Proceeds (6,926,914)

Generally, expenditures recognized in il financial statement are

limited to only those that use currengfinial resources, but expenses

are recognized in the statement of agtiwitvhen they are incurred.
Amortization -Deferred Outflows fnoAdvanced Bond Refundings (120,193)
Amortization - Bond Premiums 32,873
Amortization - Bond Discounts (14,855)
District Pension Contributions 839,961
Cost of Benefits Earned Net of Eoyele Contributions (460,886)
District Other Post Employment BiiseContributions 549,381
Cost of Benefits Earned Net of Eoyele Contributions - OPEB (1,558,565)
Accrued Interest Payable (82,454)
Accrued Sick Leave (11,667)

(826,405)

In the statement of activities the nehgai the sale/disposal of assets
is reported in whereas in the governmeutads the proceeds from the sale
increases financial resources. Thus tiaage in net position differs from
change in fund balances by the cost oatiset sold.
Loss- Sale of Assets 0

CHANGES - NET POSITION GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 2,477,750

See independent auditor's report and accompanyitas o financial statements.
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MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2023

ENTERPRISE FUNDS

FOOD DAYCARE
SERVICE FUND TOTAL
ASSETS:
Current Assets:
Cash & Cash Equivalents 2,106,371 13,535 2,119,906
Accounts Receivables 264,943 0 264,943
Inventories for Consumption 44,867 0 44,867
Total Current Assets 2,416,181 13,535 2,429,716
Noncurrent Assets:
Furniture & Equipment 833,042 0 833,042
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (240,026) 0 (240,026)
Total Noncurrent Assets 593,016 0 593,016
TOTAL ASSETS 3,009,197 13,535 3,022,732
Deferred Outflows Related to Pensions 282,469 36,376 318,845
Deferred Outflows Related to Other Post EmployniBsiefits 156,399 22,461 178,860
TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS 3,448,065 72,372 52,437
LIABILITIES:
Current Liabilities:
Account Payable 19,000 0 19,000
Total Current Liabilities 19,000 0 19,000
Noncurrent Liabilities:
Net Pension Liability 1,053,851 150,769 1,204,620
Net Other Post Employment Benefits Liability 812477 41,152 322,629
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 1,335,328 191,921 1,527,249
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,354,328 191,921 1,546,249
Deferred Inflows Related to Pensions 139,395 21,372 160,767
Deferred Inflows Related to Other Post Employmeendéits 156,433 22,841 179,274
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS 1,650,156 23634 1,886,290
Net Position:
Net Investment in Capital Assets 593,016 0 593,016
Restricted 1,204,893 0 1,204,893
Unrestricted 0 (163,762) (163,762)
Total Net Position 1,797,909 (163,762) 1,634,147
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION 3,448,065 72,372 3,520,437

See independent auditor's report and accompanyitas o financial statements.
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MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NFPDSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

OPERATING REVENUES:
Lunchroom Sales
Operating Revenues

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Salaries & Benefits
Contract Services
Materials & Supplies
Depreciation - Note F
Other Operating Expenses
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES

OPERATING INCOME(LOSS)

NONOPERATING REVENUES(EXPENSES):
Federal Grants
State Grants
Donated Commodities
Interest Income
Transfer Out to General Fund
TOTAL NONOPERATING REVENUE

INCOME(LOSS) BEFORE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

CHANGE IN NET POSITION

TOTAL NET POSITION - BEGINNING

TOTAL NET POSITION - ENDING

ENTERPRISE FUNDS

FOOD DAYCARE
SERVICE FUND
42,550 0
1,085 94,176
43,635 94,176
821,443 97,445
61,478 0
1,390,944 25
54,821 0
10,703 0
2,339,389 97,470
(2,295,754) (3,294)
2,310,111 0
127,866 13,173
161,698 0
11,653 0
(88,563) 0
2,522,765 13,173
227,011 98
0 0
227,011 9,879
1,570,898 (173,641)
1,797,909 (163,762)

See independent auditor's report and accompanyitgs o financial statements.

18

TOTAL

42,550
95,261
137,811

918,888
61,478
1,390,969
54,821
10,703

2,436,859

(2,299,048)

2,310,111
141,039
161,698
11,653
(88,563)

2,535,938

236,890
0

236,890

1,397,257

1,634,147



MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Cash Received from:
Lunchroom Sales
Other Activities
Cash Paid to/for:
Employees
Supplies
Other Activities

Net Cash Used by Operating Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Transfer Out to General Fund
Federal Grants
State Grants

Net Cash Provided by Non-Capital and Related Fiman&ctivities

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of Capital Assets

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Receipt of Interest Income

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equisalent
Balances, Beginning of Year

Balances, End of Year

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH
USED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operating Income (Loss)

Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Loss to NethGQamvided (Used)

by Operating Activities
Depreciation

State On-Behalf Payments
Donated Commodities

Change in Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabiliteesl Deferred Inflows:

Deferred Outflows

Deferred Inflows

Net Pension Liability

Net Other Post Employment Benefits
Inventory

Accounts Payable

Net Cash Used by Operating Activities

Schedule of Non-Cash Transactions:
Donated Commodities
State On-Behalf Payments

FOOD
SERVICE DAYCARE TOTAL
42,550 - 42,550
1,086 94,176 95,262
(742,980) (88,367) (831,347)
(1,224,452) (25) (1,224,477)
(72,181) (72,181)
(1,995,977) 5,784 (1,990,193)
(88,563) (88,563)
2,087,703 2,087,703
16,638 16,638
2,015,778 - 2,015,778
(61,170) - (61,170)
11,653 - 11,653
(29,716) 5,784 (23,932)
2,136,087 7,751 2,143,838
2,106,371 13,535 2,119,906
(2,295,754) (3,294) (2,299,048)
54,821 - 54,821
111,228 13,173 124,401
161,698 - 161,698
(104,117) (13,015) (117,132)
(54,383) (6,797) (61,180)
121,982 15,248 137,230
3,754 469 4,223
(13,035) - (13,035)
17,829 - 17,829
(1,995,977) 5,784 (1,990,193)
161,698 - 161,698
111,228 13,173 124,401

See independent auditor's report and accompanyites o financial statements.



MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE A — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Reporting Entity

The Mercer County Board of Education (“Board”), imefmember group, is the level of government
which has oversight responsibilities over all atitg related to public elementary and secondangpaic
education within the jurisdiction of Mercer Courdpard of Education (“District”). The District reilves
funding from local, state, and federal governmemiireses and must comply with the commitment
requirements of these funding source entities. él@m, the District is not included in any other
governmental “reporting entity” as defined in Sext2100, Codification of Governmental Accounting
and Financial Reporting Standards. Board memlrerglacted by the public and have decision-making
authority, the power to designate management,aseonsibility to develop policies which may infleen
operations, and primary accountability for fiscalttars.

The District, for financial purposes, includesdlithe funds and account groups relevant to theabio®

of the Mercer County Board of Education. The ficiahstatements presented herein do not includdsfun
of groups and organizations, which although assediavith the school system, have not originated
within the Board itself such as Band Boosters, Rafeacher Associations, etc.

The financial statements of the District includegé of separately administered organizations treat a
controlled by or dependent on the Board. Controtl@pendence is determined on the basis of budget
adoption, funding, and appointment of the respeajeverning board.

Based on the foregoing criteria, the financialestegnts of the following organizations are includethe
accompanying financial statements:

Mercer County Board of Education Finance Corporatioln a prior year, the Board of Education
resolved to authorize the establishment of the Bre@ounty School District Finance Corporation (a-no
profit, non-stock, public and charitable corporatimrganized under the School Bond Act and KRS 273
and KRS Section 58.180) (the “Corporation”) as germy for the District for financing the costs of
school building facilities. The members of the Bbalso comprise the Corporation’s Board of Diresto

Basis of Presentation

Government-Wide Financial Statements — The statemienet position and the statement of activities
display information about the District as a wholehese statements include the financial activibiethe
primary government, except for fiduciary funds. ®tatements distinguish between those activities of
the District that are governmental and those treatansidered business-type activities.

The government-wide statements are prepared usengdonomic resources measurement focus. This is
the same approach used in the preparation of tyiptary fund financial statements but differsnfrthe
manner in which governmental fund financial statetmeare prepared. Governmental fund financial
statements therefore include reconciliation witliefoexplanations to better identify the relatioqshi
between the government-wide statements and trenstats for governmental funds.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The government-wide statement of activities presantomparison between direct expenses and program
revenues for each segment of the business-typdtistiof the District and for each function or gram

of the District's governmental activities. Direstpenses are those that are specifically associatkdh
service, program or department and are theref@arlgl identifiable to a particular function. Pragr
revenues include charges paid by the recipiertefybods or services offered by the program andagra
and contributions that are restricted to meetirg aberational or capital requirements of a pardicul
program. Revenues that are not classified as gnogevenues are presented as general revenues of th
District, with certain limited exceptions. The cpanison of direct expenses with program revenues
identifies the extent to which each business segmegovernmental function is self-financing or wesa
from the general revenues of the District.

Fund Financial Statements — Fund financial statésmeport detailed information about the Distrigte
focus of governmental and enterprise fund finanstatements is on major funds rather than reporting
funds by type. Each major fund is presented ipgasate column. Nonmajor funds are aggregated and
presented in a single column. Fiduciary fundsreperted by fund type.

The accounting and reporting treatment applied tona is determined by its measurement focus. All
governmental fund types are accounted for usidgvadf current financial resources measurementgocu
The financial statements for governmental funds arealance sheet, which generally includes only
current assets and current liabilities, and a state of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund
balances, which reports on the changes in net &sséts. Proprietary funds and fiduciary funds are
reported using the economic resources measureroens.f The statement of cash flows provides
information about how the District finances and tadbe cash flow needs of its proprietary actigitie

The District has the following funds:

I. Governmental Fund Types

A. The General Fund is the main operating fundhaf Board. It accounts for financial
resources used for general types of operationds i$ha budgeted fund, and any fund
balances are considered as resources availablaséor This is a major fund of the
District.

B. The Special Revenue (Grant) Funds account for pasef specific revenue sources
(other than expendable trust or major capital ptsjethat are legally restricted to
disbursements for specified purposes. It inclufisteral financial programs where
unused balances are returned to the grantor @ldke of the specified project periods as
well as the state grant programs. Project accogiisiemployed to maintain integrity for
the various sources of funds. The separate psoctederally funded grant programs
are identified in the Schedule of Expenditures edétal Awards and related notes. This
is a major fund of the District.

C. Capital Project Funds are used to account for Giziresources to be used for the
acquisition or construction of major capital fatds and equipment (other than those
financed by Proprietary Fund).

1. The Support Education Excellence in Kentucky (SEE}pital Outlay Fund

receives those funds designated by the state agaC&utlay funds and is
restricted for use in financing projects identifiadhe District’s facility plan.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. The Facility Support Program of Kentucky (FSPK)@gaus for funds generated
by the building tax levy required to participate the School Facilities
Construction Commission’s construction funding astdte matching funds,
where applicable. Funds may be used for projetgstified in the District's
facility plan.

3. The Construction Fund accounts for proceeds frolessaf bonds and other
revenues to be used for authorized construction.

D. Debt Service Funds are used to account for thenagetion of resources for, and the
payment of, general long-term debt principal anerigst and related cost; and for the
payment of interest on generally obligation notagable, as required by Kentucky law.

Il. Proprietary Fund Types (Enterprise Fund)

The Food Service Fund is used to account for scfomul service activities, including the
National School Lunch Program, which is conducted cooperation with the U.S.
Department of Agriculture (USDA). Amounts have heecorded for in-kind contribution of
commodities from the USDA. The Food Service Fund major fund.

The District applies all GASB pronouncements toppietary funds as well as the Financial
Accounting Standards Board pronouncements issued bafore November 30, 1989, unless
those pronouncements conflict with or contradictSBApronouncements.

lll. Fiduciary Fund Type (Private Purpose Trust Funds)

A. The Private Purpose Trust funds are used to rdpast arrangements under which
principal and income benefit individuals, privatganization, or other governments.

Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting determines when transactioagenorded in the financial records and reported on
the financial statements. Government-wide findnsiatements are prepared using the accrual bésis o
accounting. Governmental funds use the modifienuad basis of accounting. Proprietary and fidycia
funds also us the accrual basis of accounting.

Revenues — Exchange and Nonexchange TransactiBesenues resulting from exchange transactions,
in which each party receives essentially equalejalsirecorded on the accrual basis when the egehan
takes place. On a modified accrual basis, reveatesecorded in the fiscal year in which the resesi
are measurable and available. Available meansthigatesources will be collected within the current
fiscal year or are expected to be collected soaugm thereafter to be used to pay liabilities af th
current fiscal year. For the District, availableans expected to be received within 60 days ofislal
year-end.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Proprietary Fund operating revenues are definedeasnues received from the direct purchases of
products and services (i.e. food service). Norratpey revenues are not related to direct purchabes
products; for the District, these revenues arecbifyi investment income and state and federal grant
revenues.

Nonexchange transactions, in which the Districeiess value without directly giving equal value in
return, include property taxes, grants, entitlermeanid donations. On an accrual basis, revenue from
property taxes is recognized in the fiscal yearvitnich the taxes are levied. Revenue from grants,
entittements and donations is recognized in thmafigear in which all eligibility requirements halieen
satisfied. Eligibility requirements include timimgquirements, which specify the year when theueso

is required to be used or the fiscal year whenisi$iest permitted, matching requirements, in whibl
District must provide local resources to be usedafepecified purpose, and expenditure requiremants
which the resources are provided to the Districeaeimbursement basis. On a modified accruakbasi
revenues from nonexchange transactions must alagakable before it can be recognized.

Deferred Revenue — Deferred revenue arises whegtsaase recognized before revenue recognition
criteria have been satisfied.

Grants and entitlements received before the eligibiequirements are met are recorded as deferred
revenue.

Expenses/Expenditures — On the accrual basis oliatiog, expenses are recognized at the time theey a
incurred. The fair value of donated commoditiesdugluring the year is reported in the statement of
revenues, expenses, and changes in net positian agpense with a like amount reported as donated
commodities revenue. Unused donated commoditeeseported as deferred revenue.

The measurement focus of governmental fund acaayns on decreases in net financial resources
(expenditures) rather than expenses. Expendianegenerally recognized in the accounting penod i
which the related fund liability is incurred, if m&urable. Allocations of costs, such as depreciatre

not recognized in governmental funds.

Property Taxes

Property Tax Revenues — Property taxes are leaell 8eptember on the assessed value listed as of th
prior January 1, for all real and personal propantyhe county. The billings are considered duerup
receipt by the taxpayer; however, the actual dateased on a period ending 30 days after the thx bi
mailing. Property taxes collected are recordeckeasnues in the fiscal year for which they wereddy

All taxes collected are initially deposited inteetiGeneral fund and then transferred to the apmiEpri
fund.

The property tax rates assessed for the year ehdexl30, 2023, to finance the General Fund opesatio
were $0.702 per $100 valuation for real propert,786 per $100 valuation for business personal
property, and $0.491 per $100 valuation for motdnigles.

The District levies a utility gross receipts licertsix in the amount of 3% of the gross receiptsvddr

from the furnishings, within the county, of teleplim and telegraphic communications services,
cablevision services, electric power, water, artdnad, artificial, and mixed gases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Capital Assets

General capital assets are those assets not spéyifelated to activities reported in the profaig

funds. These assets generally result from expameditin the governmental funds. These assets are
reported in the governmental activities columnhaf government-wide statement of net position bet ar
not reported in the fund financial statements. itahpssets utilized by the proprietary funds agorted
both in the business-type activities column of gleernment-wide statement of net position and e th
respective funds.

All reported capital assets are depreciated. Ingrents are depreciated over the remaining useéad |
of the related capital assets. Depreciation isprged using the straight-line method over the foihg
useful lives for both general capital assets angntary fund assets:

Governmental Activities

Description Estimated Lives
Buildings and improvements 25-50 years
Land improvements 20 years
Technology equipment 5 years
Vehicles 5-10 years
Audio-visual equipment 15 years
Food service equipment 10-12 years
Furniture and fixtures 7 years
Rolling stock 15 years
Other 10 years

Interfund Balances

On fund financial statements, receivables and gaysadsulting from short-term interfund loans are
classified as “interfund receivables/payables.” eSé amounts are eliminated in the governmental and
business-type activities columns of the statemehiget position, except for the net residual amsuhte
between governmental and business-type activitibgh are presented as internal balances.

Accumulated Unpaid Sick Leave Benefits

Upon retirement from the school system, an emplayidereceive from the District an amount equal to
30% of the value of accumulated sick leave.

Sick leave benefits are accrued as a liability gidime termination payment method. An accrual for
earned sick leave is made to the extent that firidable that the benefits will result in termioati
payments. The liability is based on the Schooltrigiss past experience of making termination
payments.

The entire compensated absence liability is redastethe government-wide financial statements.
For governmental fund financial statements, theresurportion of unpaid accrued sick leave is the
amount expected to be paid using expendable alaitalsources. These amounts are recorded in the

amount “accumulated sick leave payable” in the girfend. The noncurrent portion of the liability
reported as a reserve of fund balance.
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Budgetary Process

Budgetary Basis of Accounting: The District's betiyy process accounts for certain transactiona on
basis other than Generally Accepted Accountingdijslas (GAAP). The major differences between the
budgetary basis and the GAAP basis are:

Revenues are recorded when received in cash (largiyets opposed to when susceptible to accrual
(GAAP).

Expenditures are recorded when paid in cash (badgets opposed to when susceptible to accrual
(GAAP).

Once the budget is approved, it can be amendedendments are presented to the Board at their regula
meetings. Such amendments are made before theafaateflected in the official minutes of the Bahar
and are not made after fiscal year-end as dictatddw.

Each budget is prepared and controlled by the hudgerdinator at the revenue and expenditure
function/object level. All budget appropriatiorepse at year-end.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The District considers demand deposits, money mdtkels, and other investments with an original
maturity of 90 days or less, to be cash equivalents

Inventories
On government-wide financial statements, invengosiee stated at cost and are expensed when used.

On fund financial statements inventories are statezbst. The cost of inventory items is recordsdn
expenditure in the governmental fund types whechmased.

The food service fund uses the specific identifaratmethod.
Investments

The private purpose trust funds record investmantbeir quoted market prices. All realized gaansi
losses and changes in fair value are recordeckisthitement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position.

Accrued Liabilities and Long-Term Obligations

All payables, accrued liabilities, and long-termigdtions are reported in the government-wide fiiah
statements, and all payables, accrued liabilies, long-term obligations payable from proprietanyds
are reported on the proprietary fund financialestents.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

In general, payables and accrued liabilities th#ithe paid from governmental funds are reportedhan
governmental fund financial statements regardldssvimether they will be liquidated with current
resources. However, claims and judgments, the urogrt portion of capital leases, accumulated sick
leave, contractually required pension contributiand special termination benefits that will be pagm
governmental funds are reported as a liabilityhi fund financial statements only to the extent they

will be paid with current, expendable, availableaficial resources. In general, payments maderwithi
sixty days after year-end are considered to haga beade with current available financial resources.

Bonds and other long-term obligations that willgzed from governmental funds are not recognized as
liability in the fund financial statements untilelu

Fund Balance

In accordance with Government Accounting StandaBdsmrd 54, Fund Balance Reporting and
Governmental Fund Type Definitions, the Distriasdifies governmental fund balances as follows:

Non-spendable — includes fund balance amountsctratot be spent either because it is not in
spendable form or because of legal or contractadtcaints.

Restricted — includes fund balance amounts thetanstrained for specific purposes which are
externally imposed by providers, such as credibtsramounts constrained due to constitutional
provisions or enabling legislation.

Committed — includes fund balance amounts thatcanstrained for specific purposes that are
internally imposed by the government through forraetion of the highest level of decision-

making authority and does not lapse at year-endm&loSchool Board action must be taken
during an open meeting to establish, modify, ociresa fund balance commitment.

Assigned — includes fund balance amounts thainéeaded to be used for specific purposes that
are neither considered restricted or committed. dFlBalance may be assigned by the
Superintendent.

Unassigned — includes positive fund balance witthia General Fund which has not been
classified within the above-mentioned categoried amegative fund balances in other
governmental funds.

The District committed the following fund balangpé by taking the following action:

Fund Balance Type Amount Action
General Fund 619,709 Long-Term Sick Leave Commmitme
General Fund 49,316 Site Based Carryforward

The District usesestricted/committedmounts to be spent first when both restricteduamdstricted fund
balance is available unless there are legal doctsioemtracts that prohibit doing this, such as gran
agreements requiring dollar for dollar spendingdifidnally, the District would first useommittedthen
assignedand lastlyunassigne@mounts for unrestricted fund balance when experefitare made.
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The District does not have a formal minimum funthbee policy.

Major Special Revenue Fund Revenue Source
Special Revenue State, Local and Federal Grants
Net Position

Net position represents the difference betweentassel liabilities. Net investment in capital dsse
consists of capital assets, net of accumulatededegiion, reduced by the outstanding balances pf an
borrowings used for the acquisition, constructmmimprovement of those assets. Net position is
reported as restricted when there are limitationpoised on their use either through the enabling
legislation adopted by the School District or thgbwexternal restrictions imposed by creditors, tnam

or laws or regulations of other governments.

Operating Revenues and Expenses

Operating revenues are those revenues that areageshedirectly from the primary activity of the
proprietary funds. For the School District, thoseenues are primarily charges for meals providethe
various schools.

Contributions of Capital

Contributions of capital in proprietary fund finaaicstatements arise from outside contributionéixad
assets, or from grants or outside contributionsregources restricted to capital acquisition and
construction.

Interfund Activity

Exchange transactions between funds are reportedreasnues in the seller funds and as
expenditures/expenses in the purchaser funds. sréddwash or goods from one fund to another witldout
requirement for repayment are reported as intertuaasfers. Interfund transfers are reported herot
financing sources/uses in governmental funds atet abnoperating revenues/expenses in proprietary
funds. Repayments from funds responsible for paer expenditures/expenses to the funds thaaliyiti
paid for them are not presented on the financaéstents.

Pensions

Teachers’ Retirement System - For purposes of miagsthe net pension liability, deferred outflowfs o
resources and deferred inflows of resources relatpeénsions, and pension expense, informationtabou
the fiduciary net position of the Teachers’ RetiesmSystem of the State of Kentucky (TRS) and
additions to/deductions from TRS'’s fiduciary nesition have been determined on the same basiggs th
are reported by TRS. For this purpose, benefit magm(including refunds of employee contributions)
are recognized when due and payable in accordaititeh& benefit terms. Investments are reported at
fair value.

County Employees Retirement System - For purpo$eaaeasuring the net pension liability, deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of reses related to pensions, and pension expense,
information about the fiduciary net position of tBeunty Employees Retirement System of the State of
Kentucky (CERS) and additions to/deductions fronRSE fiduciary net position have been determined
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

on the same basis as they are reported by CER$hiB@urpose, benefit payments (including refuoids
employee contributions) are recognized when due may@dble in accordance with the benefit terms.
Investments are reported at fair value.

Since certain expense items are amortized ovasltised periods each year, the deferred portions of
these items must be tracked annually. If the antsoserve to reduce pension expense the amounts are
labeled deferred inflows. If amounts will incregension expense the amounts are labeled deferred
outflows. The amortization of these amounts is agadshed on a level dollar basis, with no interest
included in the deferred amounts. Experience dass#s and the impact of changes in actuarial
assumptions, if any, are amortized over the aveeagected remaining service life of the active and
inactive plan members at the beginning of the figear. Investment gains and losses are amortized o
a fixed five-year period.

Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions

Teachers’ Retirement System — For purposes of miegsthe liability, deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources related to OP&iB, OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary
net position of the Teachers’ Retirement Systemthef State of Kentucky (TRS) and additions
to/deductions from TRS’s fiduciary net position baveen determined on the same basis as they are
reported by TRS. For this purpose, benefit payméntduding refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordancethgtlbenefit terms. Investments are reported at fair
value, except for money market investments andggaating interest-earning investment contractg tha
have a maturity at the time of purchase of one ge&ass, which are reported at cost.

County Employees Retirement System - For purpo$eseasuring the liability, deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources relat€dPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the
fiduciary net position of the County Employees Ratient System of the State of Kentucky (CERS) and
additions to/deductions from CERS'’s fiduciary nesiion have been determined on the same basis as
they are reported by CERS. For this purpose, bemefyments (including refunds of employee
contributions) are recognized when due and payaldecordance with the benefit terms. Investmerds a
reported at fair value, except for money markeestments and participating interest-earning investm
contracts that have a maturity at the time of pasehof one year or less, which are reported at cost

Since certain expense items are amortized ovasltised periods each year, the deferred portions of
these items must be tracked annually. If the artsoserve to reduce pension expense the amounts are
labeled deferred inflows. If amounts will incregension expense the amounts are labeled deferred
outflows. The amortization of these amounts is agashed on a level dollar basis, with no interest
included in the deferred amounts. Experience dassgs and the impact of changes in actuarial
assumptions, if any, are amortized over the aveeagected remaining service life of the active and
inactive plan members at the beginning of the figear. Investment gains and losses are amortized o
a fixed five-year period.

Changes in Accounting Principle

Effective July 1, 2022, the District adopted Goweemtal Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
Statement No. 96 ubscription-based Information Technology ArrangetinesASB No. 96 establishes

accounting and financial reporting guidance forssuiption-based information technology contractd an
vendor-provided technology.

This adoption did not require a change to beginmieigposition for Mercer County School District.id
noted that the District’'s contracts are revieweduatly to ensure the District has the right to d&n
renegotiate or not renew for both educational amehtial reasons.
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NOTE B — ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia
United States of America requires the District’'snagement to make estimates and assumptions that
affect reported amounts of assets, liabilities,dfuralances, and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the general-purposeritial statements, and the reported amounts of tem&en
and expenditures during the reporting period. Aktesults could differ from those estimates.

NOTE C — CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits. Custodial Craditthe risk that in the event of a bank failureg th
District's deposits may not be returned to it. Thistrict's policy is to have all deposits secured b
pledged securities.

At year-end, the carrying amount of the Distri¢t&al cash and cash equivalents was $9,855,20theOf
total cash balance, $250,000 was covered by FeDegbsitory Insurance, with the remainder covered
by collateral agreements and collateral held bypieelging banks’ trust departments in the Distsict’
name. Cash equivalents are funds temporarily tedds securities with maturity of 90 days or less.

Cash and cash equivalents at June 30, 2023, cathsithe following:

Bank Balance Book Balance
Farmers Bank 10,832,831 9,854,207
Breakdown per financial statements:
Governmental Funds 7,734,301
Proprietary Funds 2,119,906
Total Cash 9,854,207

NOTE D — LONG TERM OBLIGATIONS

The amount shown in the accompanying financiaéstants as bond obligations represents the District’
future obligations to make payments relating to lbads issued by the Mercer County School District
Finance Corporation in the original amount aggriega$44,900,000.

The original amount of each issue and interestrate summarized below:

2012 Refunding 1,885,000 0.75% - 2.125%
2013 Refunding 1,845,000 1.05% - 2.00%
2013 2,400,000 2.00% - 4.00%
2014 Refunding 4,115,000 1.75% - 3.50%
2015 645,000 3.15%

2016 Refunding 18,195,000 2.00% - 3.00%
2020 Energy 8,070,000 3.00% - 3.75%
2020 685,000 3.25% - 3.50%
2022 7,060,000 3.00% - 4.00%
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The District, through the General Fund (includirdity taxes and the SEEK Capital Outlay Fund) is
obligated to make bond payments in amounts sufficie satisfy debt service requirements on bonds
issued by Mercer County School District Financepg@oation to construct school facilities. The Didtr
has an option to purchase the property under ksaey time by retiring the bonds then outstanding.

In 1995 the Board entered into “participation agmeats” with the Kentucky School Facility
Construction Commission. The Commission was ccehyethe Kentucky Legislature for the purpose of
assisting local school districts in meeting scramistruction needs. The table sets forth the abtoue
paid by the Board and the Commission for each yeéit maturity of all bonds issued. The Kentucky
School Construction Commission’s participation imited to the biennial budget period of the
Commonwealth of Kentucky with the right reservedlioy Kentucky School Construction Commission to
terminate the commitment to pay the agreed padiitp every two years. The obligation of the
Kentucky School Construction Commission to makeatyeeed payments automatically renews each two
years for a period of two years unless the Kentusg&lyool Construction Commission gives notice of its
intention not to participate not less than sixtysprior to the end of its biennium.

The bonds may be called prior to maturity and rguemn premiums are specified in each issue.
Assuming no bonds are called prior to scheduledintgt the maturity, the minimum obligations of the
District, including amounts to be paid by the Comssion at June 30, 2023, for debt service (princpall
interest) are as follows:

DISTRICT'S

YEAR PRINCIPAL INTEREST PARTICIPATION PORTION
2023-24 2,610,000 963,178 187,023 3,386,155
2024-25 2,665,000 909,289 184,159 3,390,130
2025-26 2,750,000 831,844 183,186 3,398,658
2026-27 2,825,000 754,812 182,211 3,397,601
2027-28 1,845,000 650,329 116,928 2,378,401
2028-29 1,910,000 590,758 120,879 2,379,879
2029-30 1,980,000 527,141 119,654 2,387,487
2030-31 2,045,000 460,763 114,537 2,391,226
2031-32 1,200,000 407,179 106,192 1,500,987
2032-33 1,250,000 367,073 109,968 1,507,105
2033-34 1,290,000 323,838 96,665 1,517,173
2034-35 1,100,000 283,265 47,525 1,335,740
2035-36 1,135,000 245,627 46,125 1,334,502
2036-37 1,155,000 206,103 49,725 1,311,378
2037-38 1,205,000 164,063 48,150 1,320,913
2038-39 1,250,000 119,900 46,576 1,323,324
2039-40 505,000 73,369 578,369
2040-41 520,000 54,150 574,150
2041-42 545,000 33,500 578,500
2042-43 565,000 11,300 576,300

30,350,000 7,977,481 1,759,503 36,567,978
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On May 16, 2023, the District issued $7,060,00B@venue Bonds with an interest rate of 3.00-4.00%.
The net proceeds of $21,595,350 (after bond digaafubil 33,086 and bond issuance costs of $59,090)
were deposited in the construction fund. The fpraicipal payment matures August 1, 2042.

Long-term liability activity for the year ended &80, 2023, was as follows:

Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year
Primary Government
Governmental Activities:

Revenue Bonds Payable 25,830,000 7,060,000 (2,540,008p,350,000 2,610,000
Add: Bond Premium 164,363 (32,873) 131,490 0
Less: Bond Discount (144,457) (133,086) 14,855 @82) 0

Net Revenue Bonds Payable 25,849,906 6,926,914 (B3B8, 30,218,802 2,610,000

Capital Lease Obligations 1,368,586 0 (285,026) 1,683B,5 209,673

Net Pension Liability 7,402,648 815,751 0 8,218,399 0

Net OPEB Liability 6,781,290 2,551,102 9,332,392 0

Accrued Sick Leave 761,099 130,522 (97,236) 794,385 64,

Total Governmental Activities: 42,163,529 10,424,289 2,940,280) 49,647,538 2,994,349
Propietary Activities
Net Pension Liability 1,067,390 137,230 0 1,204,620 0
Net OPEB Liability 318,406 4,223 0 322,629 0
Total Propietary Activities: 1,385,796 141,453 0 1,22B, 0
Long-Term Liabilities 43,549,325 10,565,742 (2,940p8 51,174,787 2,994,349

NOTE E - CAPITAL LEASE PAYABLE

The District is the lessee of buses and copiergucapital leases expiring in various years thra2@s0.

The assets and liabilities under capital leasesreserded at the present value of the minimum lease
payments or the fair value of the asset. The asgetamortized over their estimated productiveslive
Amortization of assets under capital leases isughed! in depreciation expense for fiscal year 2022.

The following is a summary of property held undapital leases:

Classes of Property Book Value as of June 30, 2023
Buses 2,244,752
Office Equipment 138,311
Accumulated Amortization (1,187,497)
1,195,566
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The following is a schedule by years of the fujpagments under capital leases as of June 30, 2023:

Year Ending June 30, Capital Lease Payable
2024 233,943
2025 221,410
2026 211,922
2027 175,974
2028 137,555
2029-2031 182,746
Net minimum lease payments 1,163,550
Amount representing interest (79,990)
Present value of net minimum least payments 1,083,56

Interest rates on capitalized leases vary from%.694.77%. The capital leases provide for the btise
revert to the District at the end of the respeckease with no further payment for purchase. Taatal
copier leases provide for the copiers to revethéoDistrict at the end of the respective lease.
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NOTE F - CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the fiscal year endexel80, 2023, was as follows:

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES:
Non-Depreciable Assets:

Land

Construction in Progress
Depreciable Assets:

Buildings & Building Improvements

Technology Equipment

Vehicles

General Equipment
TOTAL AT HISTORICAL COST

LESS ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION FOR:
Buildings & Building Improvements
Technology Equipment
Vehicles
General Equipment

TOTAL ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES CAPITAL NET

PROPRIETARY ACTIVITIES:

Depreciable Assets:
General Equipment

TOTALS AT HISTORICAL COST

LESS ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION FOR:
General Equipment

TOTAL ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

PROPRIETARY ACTIVITIES CAPITAL NET

DEPRECIATION EXPENSE CHARGED TO GOVERNMENTAL FUNCDNS AS FOLLOWS:

Instructional
Student Support Services
District Administration
School Administration
Business Support Services
Plant Operation & Maintenance
Student Transportation

TOTAL

33

BEGINNING ENDING

BALANCE ADDITIONS RETIREMENTS BALANCE

1,467,246 454,138 1,921,384

306,684 6,350,434 6,657,118

75,545,075 75,545,075

1,859,942 80,314 1,940,256
4,756,468 741,654 (281,489) 5,216,633

2,155,663 43,453 2,199,116
86,091,078 7,669,993 (281,489) 93,479,582

32,743,852 1,627,183 34,371,035

697,373 312,603 1,009,976
3,321,778 250,638 (281,489) 3,290,927

1,748,350 63,236 1,811,586
38,511,353 2,253,660 (281,489) 40,483,524
47,579,725 5,416,333 - 52,996,058

771,872 61,170 833,042
771,872 61,170 - 833,042

185,205 54,821 240,026
185,205 54,821 - 240,026
586,667 6,349 - 593,016

1,880,362

37,699

1,320

2,944

636

92,138

238,561

2,253,660
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NOTE G — RETIREMENT PLANS
The District's employees are provided with two penglans, based on each position’s college degree

requirement. The County Employees Retirement Systarars employees whose position does not require
a college degree or teaching certification. Thetleky Teachers Retirement System covers positions
requiring teaching certification or otherwise remg a college degree.

General information about the County Employees Retement System Non-Hazardous (“CERS”)

Plan descriptior—Employees whose positions do not require a delgegend a high school diploma are
covered by the CERS, a cost-sharing multiple-engialefined benefit pension plan administered by the
Kentucky Retirement System, an agency of the Comveaitth of Kentucky. Under the provisions of the
Kentucky Revised Statute (“KRS”) Section 61.64% Board of Trustees of the Kentucky Retirement
System administers CERS and has the authoritytadlesh and amend benefit provisions. The Kentucky
Retirement System issues a publicly available frenreport that includes financial statements and
required supplementary information for CERS. Treabrt may be obtained from http://kyret.ky.gov/.

Benefits provided-CERS provides retirement, health insurance, death disability benefits to Plan
employees and beneficiaries. Employees are vastéue plan after five years’ service. For retireme
purposes, employees are grouped into three tiasgdon hire date:

Tier1 Particpationdate Before Septemb 1, Z00€
Unreduce retiremen 27 years seice cr 65 years dd
Reduced rtirement At leastb years erviceanc 55 yeers olc

At least 5 years selice and an' age

Tier 2 Particpatior dete Septembel, 200¢ - December 31, 201
Unreduced retirennt At least 5 years service a65 years od
OR age57+ and um of service year plus ag equal87
Rediced retirerent At least 10 yearsevice or60 years old
Tier 3 Paricipaion date After Decembwr 31, 201.
Unreducd retiremer At leas 5 years service and 65ars cd
OR &ge 57+ and sum 'servce yeers plus age equl 87
Reduced retiremen Not Availakle

Cost of living adjustments are provided at theréisan of the General Assembly. Retirement is based
factor of the number of years’ service and hire datiltiplied by the average of the highest fivergea
earnings. Reduced benefits are based on factbattobf these components. Patrticipating employees
become eligible to receive the health insurancefiteafter at least 180 months of service. Deatirelits
are provided for both death after retirement arattdprior to retirement. Death benefits after eztient are
$5,000 in lump sum. Five years’ service is requfcedieath benefits prior to retirement and the leyge
must have suffered a duty-related death. The detedeneficiary will receive the higher of the nd
death benefit and $10,000 plus 25% of the decexleranthly final rate of pay and any dependent child
receive 10% of the decedent’s monthly final ratpaf up to 40% for all dependent children. Fivergea
service is required for nonservice-related disghilenefits.
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Contributions—Required contributions by the empkogee based on the tier:

Required Contribtions

Tier 1 5%
Tier 2 5% +1%for instrance
Tier 3 5% +1% for insurance

General information about the Teachers’ RetirementSystem of the State of Kentucky (“TRS")

Plan description—Feachingcertified employees of the District and other ergpks whose positions
require at least a college degree are providedgenghrough the Teachers’ Retirement System of the
State of Kentucky (TRS)—a cost-sharing multiple-&yer defined benefit pension plan with a special
funding situation established to provide retirenmamiuity plan coverage for local school distriatsl a

other public educational agencies in the CommonWwe@RS was created by the 1938 General Assembly
and is governed by Chapter 161 Section 220 thr&lgipter 161 Section 990 of the KRS. TRS is a
blended component unit of the Commonwealth of Keigand therefore is included in the
Commonwealth’s financial statements. TRS issuagigly available financial report that can be
obtained at http://www.TRS.ky.gov/05_publicationdéx.htm.

Benefits provided-For employees who have established an accountetirament system administered
by the Commonwealth prior to July 1, 2008, emplsyleecome vested when they complete five (5) years
of credited service. To qualify for monthly retirent benefits, payable for life, employees mustegith

1.) Attain age fifty-five (55) and complete five (5)ams of Kentucky service, or
2.) Complete 27 years of Kentucky service.

Employees that retire before age 60 with less #¥apears of service receive reduced retirementfliene
Non-university employees with an account estabtispgor to July 1, 2002 receive monthly payments
equal to two (2) percent (service prior to Juh1283) and two and one-half (2.5) percent (serviter a
July 1, 1983) of their final average salaries facte year of credited service. New employees (inctud
second retirement accounts) after July 1, 2002 nedkeive monthly benefits equal to 2% of their fina
average salary for each year of service if, upaineraent, their total service less than ten yebleswy
employees after July 1, 2002 who retire with tenmmre years of total service will receive monthly
benefits equal to 2.5% of their final average salar each year of service, including the first {exars.

In addition, employees who retire July 1, 2004 ktelr with more than 30 years of service will htveir
multiplier increased for all years over 30 from %.50 3.0% to be used in their benefit calculation.
Effective July 1, 2008, the System has been ametuledange the benefit structure for employeegihire
on or after that date.

Final average salary is defined as the memberés(BY highest annual salaries for those with leas 27
years of service. Employees at least age 55 witlor2ihore years of service may use their three (3)
highest annual salaries to compute the final awermjary. TRS also provides disability benefits for
vested employees at the rate of sixty (60) peroénhe final average salary. A life insurance bénef
payable upon the death of a member, is $2,000ctoreacontributing employees and $5,000 for retived
disabled employees.
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Cost of living increases are one and one-half (figgfent annually. Additional ad hoc increasesamd
other benefit amendments must be authorized b&#reeral Assembly.

Contributions—Contribution rates are established KBntucky Revised Statutes (KRS). University
members contribute 10.4% of salary to the retirdrsgatem. Non-university employees are required to
contribute 12.855% or 14.75% of their salaries te System, with the rate dependent upon the
employee’s entry date. Member contributions ackgd up by the employer.

The Commonwealth of Kentucky, as a non-employetrdmsting entity, pays matching contributions at
the rate of 13.105% of salaries for local schostriit and regional cooperative employees hiredteef
July 1, 2008 and 14.105% for those hired after Jyh2008. For local school district and regional
cooperative employees whose salaries are feddualtied, the employer contributes range from 16.105%
to 17.105% of salaries, depending on the employeetsy date. If an employee leaves covered
employment before accumulating five (5) years afdited service, accumulated employee pension
contributions plus interest are refunded to thelegg®e upon the member’s request.

Medical Insurance Plan

Plan descriptior—In addition to the pension benefits described ab&RS 161.675 requires TRS to
provide post-employment healthcare benefits taldégemployees and dependents. The TRS Medical
Insurance Fund is a cost-sharing multiple emplaolgfined benefit plan. Changes made to the medical
plan may be made by the TRS Board of Trusteeé&mtucky Department of Employee Insurance and
the General Assembly.

To be eligible for medical benefits, the member nhase retired either for service or disability €THhRS
Medical Insurance Fund offers coverage to employeesr the age of 65 through the Kentucky
Employees Health Plan administered by the Kentiégartment of Employee Insurance. Once retired
employees and eligible spouses attain age 65 aWadicare eligible, coverage is obtained throungh t
TRS Medicare Eligible Health Plan.

Funding policy—In order to fund the post-retirement healthcaraefie six percent (6%) of the gross
annual payroll of employees before July 1, 2008ostributed. Three percent (3%) is paid by member
contributions and three quarters percent (.75%nfil@ommonwealth appropriation and two and one
quarter percent (2.25%) from the employer. Alse,ghemiums collected from retirees as describeldan
plan description and investment interest help rtieetnedical expenses of the plan.

At June 30, 2022, the District reported a liabifiby its proportionate share of the net pensiobilitg for
CERS. The District did not report a liability fdra District’'s proportionate share of the net pemsio
liability for TRS because the Commonwealth of Kekiuprovides the pension support directly to TRS
on behalf of the District. The amount recognizedhwy District as its proportionate share of the net
pension liability, the related Commonwealth suppamnd the total portion of the net pension liapithat
was associated with the District were as follows:

District's proportionate share of the CERS netgiam liability $ 9,423,019

Commonwealth’s proportional share of the TRS net

pension liability associated with the District 66,641,110
$ 76,064,129
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The net pension liability for each plan was meaga®of June 30, 2022, and the total pension iligbil
used to calculate the net pension liability wagdeined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.

The District’s proportion of the net pension lidyifor CERS was based on the actual liabilityrod t
employees and former employees relative to the liatslity of the System as determined by the acju
At June 30, 2022, the District’s proportion was3D350 percent and at June 30, 2021, the District's
portion was 0.132847 percent.

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the Districtgized pension expense of $554,953 related to CERS
and $6,080,412 related to TRS. The District alsogeized revenue of $6,080,412 for TRS support
provided by the Commonwealth. At June 30, 2023 [istrict reported deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources related to perssiiom the following sources:

Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources

Difference: betweer expecte and actue

experience(liability experience $ 10,07« $ 83,91¢
Changss cf assimptiors - -
Net differene between prjectec ard actual

earnings on pensn planinvestment 1,282,19. 1,040,61!
Changes in joporion and difference

between Cstrict contributicns aid profortionate

stare of coniributions - 211,233
District contritutions subsequent to tt

measurement de¢ 981,26. -
Total $ 2,273,52i $ 1,335,76¢

$981,263 reported as deferred outflows of resowelaged to pensions resulting from District
contributions subsequent to the measurement diltbemecognized as a reduction of the net pension
liability in the year ended June 30, 2024. Otheoants reported as deferred outflows of resourcds an
deferred inflows related to pensions will be redegd in pension expense as follows:

Year enedJune 30:

2024 (177,48}
2025 (54,519
2026 (79,180
2027 267,68
2028 -
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Actuarial assumptions-The total pension liability in the June 30, 202Ruarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumg@j@pplied to all periods included in the measuréme

Teachers’ Retirement System (TRS)

The total pension liability in the June 30, 2022uadal valuation was determined using the follogvin
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods idetlin the measurement:

Valuation Date June 30, 2021
Inflation 2.50 percent
Salary increases 3.00 — 7.50 percent
Long-Term Investment Rate of Return, net of pamsio
plan investment expense, including inflation Tpkdcent
Municipal Bond Index Rate
Prior Measurement Date 2.13 percent
Measurement Date 3.37 percent
Year FNP is projected to depleted N/A

Single Equivalent Interest Rate, net of pensiam pl
investment expense, including inflation

Prior Measurement Date 7.10 percent
Measurement Date 7.10 percent
Post-retirement Benefit Increases 1.50% annually

Mortality rates were based on the Pub2010 (Teadengfit-Weighted) Mortality Table projected
generationally with MP-2020 with various set-fordsy set-backs, and adjustments for each of the
groups. The actuarial assumptions used were lmastte results of an actuarial experience studyhier
5-year period ending June 30, 2020, adopted bipdhed on September 20, 2021. The Municipal Bond
Index Rate used for this purpose is the June agesfithe Bond Buyer General Obligation 20-year
Municipal Bond Index.

For TRS, the long-term expected rate of return@mspn plan investments was determined using a log-
normal distribution analysis in which best-estimateges of expected future real rates of returpgeted
returns, net of pension plan investment expenserdlation) are developed for each major assetsclas
These ranges are combined to produce the longdrpected rate of return by weighting the expected
future real rates of return by the target assetation percentage and by adding expected inflation
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The target allocation and best estimates of aritttmneal rates of return for each major asset class
provided by TRS’s investment consultant, are surimadrin the following table:

Target Long-Term Expecte
Real Rates
AssetClass Allocation of Return
Large Cap U.S. quity 37.4(% 4.20%
Small Cap LS. Equty 2.€0% 4.70%
Developecinternaional Equity 16.5(% 5.30%
Emerging Markets Equi 5.50% 5.40%
Fixed Incone 15.00% -0.1%
High Yield Bords 2.C0% 1.70%
OtherAdditional Ciecories 5.00% 2.20%
Reéd Estate 7.0C% 4.0%
Privale Equity 7.00% 6.9%
Cash 2.0% -0.3%
Total 100.0%

Discount rate- For TRS, The discount rate used to measure fBtheab of the Measurement Date was
7.10 percent. The projection of cash flows usedktermine the discount rate was performed in
accordance with GASB 67. We assumed that Plan mecooéributions will be made at the current
contribution rates and that Employer contributiam$be made at the Actuarially Determined
Contribution rates for all fiscal years in the filruBased on those assumptions, the pension plan’s
fiduciary net position was projected to be avagaiol make all projected future benefit payments of
current plan members. Therefore, the long term eegerate of return on pension plan investments was
applied to all periods of projected benefit payrsdntdetermine the total pension liability.

County Employees’ Retirement System (CERS)

The total pension liability in the June 30, 2022uadal valuation was determined using the follagvin
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods idetlin the measurement:

Valuation Date June 30, 2020

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal

Amortization Method Level Percent of Pay

Remaining Amortization Period 30 years, closedqukat June 30, 2019

Gains/losses incurring after 2019 will be amortizaakr
separate closed 20-year amortization bases

Asset Valuation Method 20% of the difference betwiéhe market value of assets
and the expected actuarial value of assets is nized)

Payroll Growth Rate 2.0%

Investment rate of return 6.25%

Projected salary increases 3.30 to 10.30%, vhsieervice

Inflation rate 2.30%

Mortality System-specific mortality table basedroartality

experience from 2013-2018, projected with the dtien
rates from MP-2014 mortality improvements scal@gsi
a base year of 2019
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Phase-In provision Board certified rate is phaséal the actuarially
determined rate in accordance with HB 362 enacted i
2018

For CERS, the long-term expected rate of returndedsrmined by using a building block method in
which best estimate ranges of expected futureraded of returns are developed for each asset cCldss
ranges are combined by weighting the expecteddueail rate of return by target asset allocation
percentage. The target allocation and best essadtarithmetic real rate of return for each magset
class is summarized in the table below. The ctitoeny-term inflation assumption is 2.30% per annum

Target Long-Term Epectel
Asset Clas! Allocation RealRae of Return
Equity 60.00%
PublicEquity 50.0(% 4.45%
Private Equity 10.C0% 10.15%
Fixed Income 20.00%
Core Bords 10.0(% 0.28%
Specialty Credit / High Nield 10.00% 2.28%
Cest 0.0(% -0.91%
Inflation Protected 20.00%
Real Estat 7.00% 3.67%
Real Return 13.00% 4.07%
Total 100.0% 4.28%
Lonc Term Irflation Assumrgion 2.30%
Expeced Nomneél Return for Portfoli 6.5&%

Discount rate—For CERS, projection of cash flows used to deteentihe discount rate of 6.25% assumes
that the funds receive the required employer coutibns each future year, as determined by thesntirr
funding policy established in Statute as amendeddiyse Bill 362 (passed in 2018) over the remaining
30 years (closed) amortization period of the unéthdctuarial accrued liability.

Sensitivity of CERS and TRS proportionate sharebpension liability to changes in the discouriera
The following table presents the net pension lighdlf the District, calculated using the discoustes
selected by each pension system, as well as wadigtrict's net pension liability would be if itexe
calculated using a discount rate that is 1-pergeafeint lower or 1-percentage-point higher than th
current rate:

Current Discount

1% Decrease Rate 1% Increast
CERS 5.25% 6.25% 7.25%
District's proporionate shai
of net pensin liability 11,777,60 9,423,01! 7,475,58.
TRE 6.10% 7.10% 8.10%
District's gropartionate shar
of net pensiotliability 0 0 0
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Pension plan fiduciary net positienDetailed information about the pension plan’s fiduy net position
is available in the separately issued financiabrespof both CERS and TRS.

NOTE H - POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION S

Teachers’ Retirement System of Kentucky

Plan description Teaching-certified employees of the Kentucky Sc¢iistrict are provided OPEBs
through the Teachers’ Retirement System of thee@iaKentucky (TRS)—a cost-sharing multiple-
employer defined benefit OPEB plan with a spedciabiing situation established to provide retirement
annuity plan coverage for local school districtd ather public educational agencies in the staRS T

was created by the 1938 General Assembly and isrged by Chapter 161 Section 220 through Chapter
161 Section 990 of the Kentucky Revised Statutdéd3K TRS is a blended component unit of the
Commonwealth of Kentucky and therefore is inclugethe Commonwealth’s financial statements. TRS
issues a publicly available financial report tha be obtained at https://trs.ky.gov/financial-mgpo
information.

The state reports a liability, deferred outflowge@gources and deferred inflows of resources, apdrese
as a result of its statutory requirement to contelto the TRS Medical Insurance and Life Insurance
Plans. The following information is about the TR&ns:

Medical Insurance Plan

Plan description -n addition to the OPEB benefits described ab&estucky Revised Statute 161.675
requires TRS to provide post-employment healthbaresfits to eligible members and dependents. The
TRS Medical Insurance benefit is a cost-sharingipialemployer defined benefit plan with a special
funding situation. Changes made to the medical play be made by the TRS Board of Trustees, the
Kentucky Department of Employee Insurance and thee@l Assembly.

Benefits provided Fo be eligible for medical benefits, the membeshhave retired either for service or
disability. The TRS Medical Insurance Fund offesgarage to members under the age of 65 through the
Kentucky Employees Health Plan administered bykibetucky Department of Employee Insurance.
TRS retired members are given a supplement to & fas payment of their health insurance premium.
The amount of the member’s supplement is basedoomtaibution supplement table approved by the
TRS Board of Trustees. The retired member pays ipramin excess of the monthly supplement. Once
retired members and eligible spouses attain age@%re Medicare eligible, coverage is obtained
through the TRS Medicare Eligible Health Plan.

Contributions —In order to fund the post-retirement healthcareebignseven and one-half percent
(7.50%) of the gross annual payroll of membersigtributed. Three percent (3.75%) is paid by member
contributions and three quarters percent (.75% fetate appropriation and three percent (3.00% fro
the employer. The state contributes the net cokealth insurance premiums for members who retired
or after July 1, 2010 who are in the non-Medicdigilde group. Also, the premiums collected from
retirees as described in the plan description anelstment interest help meet the medical experfdbe o
plan.
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At June 30, 2022, the Mercer County District repdra liability of $7,083,000 for its proportionatieare
of the collective net OPEB liability that reflectadeduction for state OPEB support provided to the
District. The collective net OPEB liability was nseged as of June 30, 2022, and the total OPEBItiabi
used to calculate the collective net OPEB liabiigs based on a projection of the District’s loag#
share of contributions to the OPEB plan relativéh®projected contributions of all participating
employers, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2@28 District’'s proportion was .2854 percent,
compared to .2214 percent at June 30, 2022.

The amount recognized by the District as its pripoate share of the OPEB liability, the relatedtSt
support, and the total portion of the net OPEBiliigtthat was associated with the District were as
follows:

District’s proportionate share of the net OPEBIlisy $ 7,083,000
State’s proportionate share of the net OPEB

liability associated with the District 2,300
Total $ 9,410,000

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the Districtgeized OPEB expense of $1,276,905 and revenue of
$124,368 for support provided by the State. At BMe2023, the District reported deferred outflas
resources and deferred inflows of resources retat€@PEBs from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows of

Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual

experience (liability experienc $ - 2,240,788
Changes of assumptions 1,082,383 -
Net difference between projected and actual

earnings on pension plan investmi 283,76t -
Changes in proportion and differences

between District contributions and proportior

share of contributior 1,557,33! 77,52¢
District contributions subsequent to the

measurement de 427,69 -
Total 3,351,18. 2,318,311
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Of the total amount reported as deferred outflofvesources related to OPEB, $427,695 resultingp fro
District contributions subsequent to the measure¢mate and before the end of the fiscal year vell b
included as a reduction of the collective net ORiEBility in the year ended June 30, 2023. Other
amounts reported as deferred outflows of resowandsleferred inflows of resources related to OPEB
will be recognized in the District's OPEB expensdalows:

Year ended June 30:

2024 $ (78,281)
2025 (39,893)
2026 (753)
2027 332,693
2028 276,241
Thereafter 115,163

Actuarial assumptions The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 202uacial valuation was determined
using the following actuarial assumptions, apptiedll periods included in the measurement:

Valuation Date June 20, 2021
Inflation 2.50%

Real wage growth 0.25%

Wage inflation 2.75%

Salary increases, including wage inflation 3.00%0%

Long-term Investment Rate of Return, net of
OPEB plan investment expense, including

Inflation
Health Trust 7.10%
Life Trust 7.10%
Municipal Bond Index Rate 3.37%
Year FNP is projected to be depleted N/A

Single Equivalent Interest Rate, net of
OPEB plan investment expense, including
price inflation

Health Trust 7.10%
Life Trust 7.10%
Health Trust Health Care Cost Trends
Under Age 65 7.00% for FYE 2022 decreasing to imate
rate of 4.50% by FYE 2032
Ages 65 and Older 5.125% for FYE 2022 decreasirantaltimate
rate of 4.50% by FYE 2025
Medicare Part B Premiums 6.97% for FYE 2022 withuliimate rate of

4.50% by FYE 2034

Mortality rates were based on the Pub2010 (Teadengfit-Weighted) Mortality Table projected
generationally with MP-2020 with various set-fordsy set-backs, and adjustments for each of the
groups; service, retirees, contingent annuitamgsbded retirees, and active members.

The demographic actuarial assumptions for retiréntisability incidence, withdrawal, rates of plan
participation, and rates of plan election usedcheniune 30, 2021 valuation were based on the sesfult
the most recent actuarial experience studies 6gstem, which covered the five-year period ending
June 30, 2020, adopted by the Board on Septemb@02Q.
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The remaining actuarial assumptions (e.g., ing&l capita costs, health care cost trends) ustxidune
30, 2022 valuation of the Health Trust were based ceview of recent plan experience done
concurrently with June 30, 2022 valuation. Thdthezare cost trend assumption was updated for the
June 30, 2022 valuation and was shown as an assungp@ainge in the TOL roll-forward while the
change initial per capita claims costs were inalléh experience in the TOL roll-forward.

The long-term expected rate of return on HealttsTamd Life Trust investments was determined uaing
log-normal distribution analysis in which best-psite ranges of expected future real rates of return
(expected returns, net of pension plan investmegmtrese and inflation) are developed for each major
asset class. These ranges are combined to prduitng-term expected rate of return by weighthnegy
expected future real rates of return by the taageéet allocation percentage and by adding expected
inflation.

The target allocation and best estimates of arititmeal rates of return for each major asset class
provided by TRS’s investment consultant, are suneedrin the following table:

Long Term
Target Expected
Asset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return
Global Equity 58.00% 5.10%
Fixed Income 9.00% (0.10)%
Real Estate 6.50% 4.00%
Private Equity 8.00% 6.90%
Additional Category: High
Yield 8.00% 1.70%
Other Additional Categories 9.00% 2.20%
Cash (LIBOR) 1.00% -0.30%

100.00%

The following table presents the District’'s projpmmate share of the collective net OPEB liabilifytioe
System, calculated using the discount rate of 7,1d¥vell as what the District’'s proportionate shair
the collective net OPEB liability would be if it weecalculated using a discount rate that is 1-peacge-
point lower (6.10%) or 1-percentage-point highel@86) than the current rate:

Current Discount

1% Decreas Rate 1% Increese
TRS 6.1(% 7.1(% 8.10%
District's proportionate she
of net OPEB liability 8,887,00C 7,085,00C 5,59(,00(¢
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Sensitivity of the District’s proportionate sharkte collective net OPEB liability to changeslie t
healthcare cost trend ratesFhe following presents the District’'s proportionatere of the collective
net OPEB liability, as well as what the Distrigisoportionate share of the collective net OPEDBiliigh
would be if it were calculated using healthcare t@nd rates that were 1-percentage-point lowdr-or
percentage-point higher than the current healthoasetrend rates:

Current Trend
1% Cecreese Rate 1% Increase

District's proportionate slare
of ne" OPEE liability 5,31(,00C 7,08300C 9,28¢,00C

OPEB plan fiduciary net position Detailed information about the OPEB plan’s fidug net position is
available in the separately issued TRS financiabre

Life Insurance Plan

Plan description — Life Insurance PlanTRS administers the life insurance plan as plediby

Kentucky Revised Statute 161.655 to eligible actind retired members. The TRS Life Insurance benefi
is a cost-sharing multiple employer defined berghn with a special funding situation. Changes enad
the life insurance plan may be made by the TRS Boaf rustees and the General Assembly.

Benefits provided- TRS provides a life insurance benefit of fiveuband dollars payable for members
who retire based on service or disability. TRS pies a life insurance benefit of two thousand dslla
payable for its active contributing members. Teilisurance benefit is payable upon the deatheof t
member to the member’s estate or to a party detgidrgy the member.

Contributions— In order to fund the post-retirement life inswra benefit, three hundredths of one percent
(.03%) of the gross annual payroll of members i#rilouted by the state.

At June 30, 2022, the Kentucky School District dad report a liability for its proportionate shaxethe
collective net OPEB liability for life insurance tefits because the State of Kentucky provides tREB
support directly to TRS on behalf of the Distrithe amount recognized by the District as its
proportionate share of the OPEB liability, the rethState support, and the total portion of theQfeEB
liability that was associated with the District wexs follows:

District’s proportionate share of the net OPEBIligb -0-

State’s proportionate share of the net OPEB

liability associated with the District 1160
Total $ 116,000

Actuarial assumptions The actuarial assumptions are listed above th#éhTRS OPEB assumptions
information.

The long-term expected rate of return on HealttsTamd Life Trust investments was determined uaing
log-normal distribution analysis in which best-psite ranges of expected future real rates of return
(expected returns, net of pension plan investmegmtrese and inflation) are developed for each major
asset class. These ranges are combined to prduitng-term expected rate of return by weighthnegy
expected future real rates of return by the taageéet allocation percentage and by adding expected
inflation.
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The target allocation and best estimates of aritttmneal rates of return for each major asset class
provided by TRS’s investment consultant, are surimadrin the following table:

Long Term
Target Expected
Asset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return

Global Equity 40.00% 4.40%
International Equity 23.00% 5.60%
Fixed Income 18.00% -0.10%
Real Estate 6.00% 4.00%
Private Equity 5.00% 6.90%
Additional Categories 6.00% 2.10%
Cash (LIBOR) 2.00% -0.30%

100.00%

Discount rate (SEIR) The discount rate used to measure the total ORIBHity for life insurance was
7.10%. The projection of cash flows used to deteentihe discount rate was performed in accordance
with GASB 75. The projection’s basis was an acalaraluation performed as of June 30, 2021.

OPEB plan fiduciary net position Detailed information about the OPEB plan’s fidug net position is
available in the separately issued TRS financiabre

County Employees’ Retirement System of Kentucky

Plan description -Classified (non-certified) employees of the Kekiu8chool District are provided
OPEBSs through the County Employees Retirement Byesfdhe State of Kentucky (CERS)—a cost-
sharing multiple-employer defined benefit OPEB pletirement annuity plan coverage for local school
districts and other public agencies in the staleRS was established July 1, 1958 by the stateldtgyis.
CERS is a blended component unit of the CommontvedlKentucky and therefore is included in the
Commonwealth’s financial statements. CERS issymsbéicly available financial report that can be
obtained at https://kyret.ky.gov/About/Board-of-$tees/Pages/CAFR-and-SAFR.aspx.

The state reports a liability, deferred outflowsedources and deferred inflows of resources, apdrese
as a result of its statutory requirement to coantalio the CERS Medical Insurance. The following
information is about the CERS plans:

Medical Insurance Plan

Plan description ¥he Kentucky Retirement Systems’ Insurance Funsufence Fund) was established
to provide hospital and medical insurance for bliyimembers receiving benefits from KERS, CERS,
and SPRS, the state retirement options. Thebidigion-Medicare retirees are covered by the
Department of Employee Insurance (DEI) plans. Bbard contracts with Humana to provide health
care benefits to the eligible Medicare retireesulgh a Medicare Advantage Plan. The Insurance Fund
pays a prescribed contribution for whole or pap@yment of required premiums to purchase hospital
and medical insurance. It is noted that while thésirance fund covers employees eligible through
KERS, CERS, and SPRS, only the portion relatedBR & is applicable to Mercer County School
District since the District does not have or quald have employees participate in KERS or SPRS.
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Benefits provided Medical Insurance coverage is provided based @emtbmber’s initial participation
date and length of service. Members received re#thmrcentage or dollar amount for insurance
coverage. The amount of contribution paid by tieutance Fund is based on years of service. For
members participating prior to July 1, 2003, yedrservice and respective percentages of the marimu
contribution are as follows:

Years of Service Paid By Insurance Fund (%)
20+ 100%
15-19 75%
10-14 50%
4-9 25%
Less than 4 0%

Medical insurance benefits are calculated diffdyefiotr members who began participating on or after
July 1, 2003. Once members reach a vesting pefitd years, non-hazardous employees whose
participation began on or after July 1, 2003 ed® Fer month for insurance benefits at retirement f
every year of earned service without regard to simmam dollar amount. This dollar amount is subject
to adjustment annually, which is currently 1.5%sdzhupon Kentucky Revised Statutes. The Kentucky
General Assembly reserves the right to suspenédurce this benefit if, in its judgment, the welfafe

the Commonwealth so demands. Only benefit deganptpplicable to CERS Non-Hazardous have
been included with this information since only thattion is applicable to the District.

Contributions -In order to fund the post-retirement healthcareebigr8.39% of the gross annual payroll
of members is contributed for the year ended Juhe2B823 for CERS Non-Hazardous, which is the
portion of the plan applicable to the District, atls portion is paid 100% paid by employer
contributions. An additional 1.00% is contributeddmployees hired on or after September 1, 2008.

At June 30, 2023, the Mercer County District repdra liability of $ 2,572,021 for its proportionateare
of the collective net OPEB liability that reflectadeduction for state OPEB support provided to the
District. The collective net OPEB liability was nseged as of June 30, 2022, and the total OPEBitiabi
used to calculate the collective net OPEB liabiigs based on a projection of the District’s loag¥
share of contributions to the OPEB plan relativéh®projected contributions of all participating
employers, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2@28 District’'s proportion was .1303327 percent,
compared to .132816 percent at June 30, 2022.

The amount recognized by the District as its propoate share of the OPEB liability, the relatedt&t
support, and the total portion of the net OPEBIliigtthat was associated with the District were as
follows:

District’s proportionate share of the net OPEBIlity $ 2,572,021
State’s proportionate share of the net OPEB

liability associated with the District -0-
Total $ 2,572,021
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the Districtgeized OPEB expense of $329,041. At June 30, 2023,
the District reported deferred outflows of resosraad deferred inflows of resources related to GPEB
from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows of

Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual

experience (liability experience) $ 258,895 $ 589,824
Changes of assumptions 406,783 335,187
Net difference between projected and actual

earnings on pension plan investments 478,937 374,545
Changes in proportion and differences

between District contributions and proportionate

share of contrbutions 24,258 127,903
District contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 234,889
Total 1,403,762 1,427,459

Of the total amount reported as deferred outflofvesources related to OPEB, $142,157 resultingp fro
District contributions subsequent to the measureémate and before the end of the fiscal year and
implicit subsidy of $92,732 totaling $234,889 wik included as a reduction of the collective neEBP
liability in the year ended June 30, 2024. Otheoants reported as deferred outflows of resourcds an
deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB bellrecognized in the District’'s OPEB expense as
follows:

Year ended June 30:

2024 $ (33,185)
2025 (43,983)
2026 (183,571)
2027 2,151
2028 -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Actuarial assumptions The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 202fuacial valuation was determined
using the following actuarial assumptions, apptiedll periods included in the measurement:

Valuation Date June 30, 2021
Inflation 2.30%
Payroll Growth Rate 2.00%
Investment rate of return 6.25%
Salary Increases 3.30% to 10.30%, varies byicser
Healthcare cost trend rates
Pre - 65 Initial trend starting at 6.20% at Januar2024, and

gradually decreasing to an ultimate trend rate.@5%
over a period of 13 years

Post - 65 Initial trend starting at 9.00% at Japdar2024, then
gradually decreasing to an ultimate trend rate.@5%
over a period of 13 years

Mortality

Pre-retirement PUB-2010 General Mortality table

Post-retirement (non-disabled) System-specific alityttable based on mortality
experience from 2013-2018, projected with the dtien
rates from MP-2014 mortality improvement scale gsin
a base year of 2019

Post-retirement (disabled) PUB-2010 Disabled Maytahble, with a 4-year set-
forward for both male and female rates, projectét w
the ultimate rates from the MP-2014 mortality
improvement scale using a base year of 2010

The single discount rate of 5.70% for CERS Nonhdmag was used to measure the total OPEB liab#itgfa
June 30, 2022. The single discount rates are laséte expected rate of return on OPEB plan imvests of
6.25%, and a municipal bond rate of 3.69%, as tedan Fidelity Index’s “20-Year Municipal GO AA tlex” as
of June 30, 2022. Based on the assumptions angrdiextion of cash flows of each fiscal year egdthe plan’s
fiduciary net position and future contributions egrojected and were sufficient to finance thereitaenefit
payments of the current plan members. Therefbeelang-term expected rate of return on insurahae p
investments was applied to all periods of the mtej@ benefit paid from the plan. However, the essbciated
with the implicit subsidy was not included in thedaulation of the plans actuarially determined dbutions, and
any cost associated with the implicit subsidy wdt be paid out of the plans trusts. Therefore ntlunicipal
bond rate was applied to future expected benefingats associated with the implicit subsidy.

The long-term (10-year) expected rates of returrewdetermined using a building block method in vihic
best estimate ranges of expected future real chteturn were developed for each asset class. The
ranges were combined by weighting the expecteddural rate of return by the target asset allonati
percentage. The target allocation and best essadtarithmetic real rate of return for each magset
are summarized below:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Long-Term
Target Expectel
Asse Class Allocation Rea Rate of Retur

Equity

Public Equity 50.0(% 4,45%

Privale Equity 10.00% 10.159%
Fixed Income

CoreFixed Income 10.0(% 0.28%

Specialty Credt 10.00% 2.28%

Casl 0.0(% -0.91%
Inflation Protected

Real Esate 7.0C% 3.61%

Real Retrn 13.00% 407%

Total 100.0%

The following table presents the District’'s projpmmate share of the collective net OPEB liabilifytioe
System, calculated using the discount rate of 5,74vell as what the District's proportionate shair
the collective net OPEB liability would be if it weecalculated using a discount rate that is 1-peacge-
point lower (4.70%) or 1-percentage-point higher(8o) than the current rate:

Current Discount

1% LCecrease Rate¢ 1% Inwreese

CERS 4.7C% 5.7C% 6.70%
District's piopcrtionateshart

of netOPEB lability 3,438,38. 2,572,02. 1,85¢t,82¢

Sensitivity of the District’s proportionate sharktbe collective net OPEB liability to changestie t
healthcare cost trend ratesFhe following presents the District’s proportionatere of the collective
net OPEB liability, as well as what the Distrigggoportionate share of the collective net OPEBiliigh
would be if it were calculated using healthcare tend rates that were 1-percentage-point lowdr-or
percentage-point higher than the current healthoasetrend rates:

1% Decreas Current Trind Rale 1% Increast

Systems nel pension
liakility 1,912,24 2,572,02. 3,364,29

OPEB plan fiduciary net position Detailed information about the OPEB plan’s fidug net position is
available in the separately issued CERS finanejabrt.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
NOTE | — CONTINGENCIES

The District receives funding from federal, sta@nd local government agencies and private
contributions. These funds are to be used forgdesed purposes only. For government agency griénts
based upon the grantor’s review, the funds areidered not to have been used for the intended gerpo
the grantors may request a refund of monies addanoe refuse to reimburse the District for its
disbursements. The amount of such future refumdb wnreimbursed disbursements, if any, is not
expected, to be significant. Continuation of thstiixt's grant programs is predicated upon thentmes’
satisfaction that the funds provided are being sperintended and the grantors’ intent to contittnedr
programs.

NOTE J — INSURANCE AND RELATED ACTIVITIES

The District is exposed to various forms of lossaskets associated with the risks of fire, personal
liability, theft, vehicular accidents, errors analissions, fiduciary responsibility, etc. Each loése risk
areas is covered through the purchase of commer@arance. The District has purchased certain
policies, which are retrospectively related inchgliWorkers’ Compensation insurance.

NOTE K — RISK MANAGEMENT

The District is exposed to various risks of losgtedl to injuries to employees. To obtain insueaot
workers’ compensation, errors and omissions, ame g liability coverage, the District obtains gemt
from commercial insurance companies. Currenthg, Bistrict maintains insurance coverage through
Ohio Casualty Insurance Company.

The District purchases unemployment insurance tiirahhe Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust
Unemployment Compensation Fund; however, risk loadeen transferred to such fund. In addition, the
District continues to carry commercial insurancedt other risks of loss. Settled claims resgtirom
these risks have not exceeded commercial insui@narage in any of the past three fiscal years.

NOTE L — DEFICIT OPERATING BALANCES
The Daycare Fund had a deficit fund balance of #@Bat June 30, 2023. Additionally, the following

funds have operations that resulted in a curreat geficit of expenditures over revenues resuliimg
corresponding reduction of fund balance:

Debt Service Fund 3,238,957
Construction Fund 6,265,078
District Activity Fund 6,553

Student Activity Fund 15,572

NOTE M — COBRA
Under COBRA, employers are mandated to notify teated employees of available continuing

insurance coverage. Failure to comply with thigureement may put the School District at risk for a
substantial loss (contingency).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
NOTE N — TRANSFER OF FUNDS

The following transfers were made during the year:

Type From Fund To Fund Ppose Amount
Matching General Special Revenue Technology Match 3,58
Operating Capital Outlay General Fund Debt Service 254,910
Operating District Activity Student Activity Operahs 5,400
Operating General District Activity Operations axm
Operating Special Revenue General Indirect Costs 3,068
Operating Building Fund General Operations 645,877
Operating Food Service General Indirect Costs 88,56
Operating Building Fund Debt Service Debt Service ,238,957

Total Governmental Funds Transferred In 4,383,207
Operating Food Service General Fund Indirect Costs (88,563)
Proprietary Funds Transferred 88,563
Total Transferred Funds 4,294,644

NOTE O — ON-BEHALF PAYMENT

For the year ended June 30, 2023, $9,655,329 bebalf payments were made by the Commonwealth of
Kentucky for the benefit of the District. Paymefis life insurance, health insurance, Kentucky tesic
retirement matching pension contributions, admiatste fees, technology, and debt service were Ipgid
the State for the District. These payments weregeized as on-behalf payments and recorded in the
appropriate revenue and expense accounts. Thegsepes were recorded as follows:

Teachers Retirement System (GASB 68 Schedule A) ,0866412
Teachers Retirement system (GASB 75) 133,201
Health Insurance 3,141,773
Life Insurance 4,724
Administrative Fee 37,700
HRA/Dental/Vision 171,588
Federal Reimbursement (199,662)
Technology 102,043
SFCC Debt Service Payments 183,550
Total $9,655,329

NOTE P — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Management has reviewed subsequent events throoagember 1, 2023, the date the financials were
available for release. There are no material eveguiring disclosure.

NOTE Q —- COMMITMENTS

Mercer County School District is renovating its igchool baseball, softball, and soccer fields.
Construction for this project is ongoing as of thalit date. It is anticipated that the completdrihis

project will cost an additional $757,634.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Mercer County School District is in the initial @& of renovating restrooms at King Middle School.
The total estimated project is $1,125,723. To,d66&,274 has been expended for architecture fees.

Mercer County School District is in the initial @& of construction of a new elementary schoole Th

total estimated project cost is $35,576,729. Tie,d$287,479 has been expended for architectuee fee
and preliminary costs.

53



REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY
INFORMATION



REVENUES:
Taxes
Earnings on Investments
State Sources
Federal Sources
Other Sources
TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENDITURES:
Instructional
Student Support Services
Staff Support Services
District Administration
School Administration
Business Support Services
Plant Operation & Maintenance
Student Transportation
Food Service Operations
Other

TOTAL EXPENDITURES

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE
FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING

FUND BALANCES - ENDING

MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

VARIANCE WITH
FINAL BUDGET
ORIGINAL INFAL POSITIVE
BUDGET BUEG ACTUAL (NEGATIVE)
9,335,000 9,335,000 10,305,882 970,882
32,000 32,000 47,600 15,600
10,879,500 10,879,500 20,451,064 9,571,564
5,000 5,000 4,980 (20)
1,643,686 1,643,686 1,254,353 (389,333)
21,895,186 21,895,186 32,063,879 10,168,693
12,363,857 12,363,857 18,398,717 (6,034,860)
804,726 804,726 1,288,978 (484,252)
626,335 626,335 941,260 (314,925)
1,114,537 1,114,537 1,194,960 (80,423)
1,474,559 1,474,559 2,349,293 (874,734)
605,525 605,525 874,254 (268,729)
3,117,604 3,117,604 3,009,199 108,405
2,472,153 2,472,153 2,281,167 190,986
4,539 4,539 6,948 (2,409)
4,211,351 4,211,351 372,004 3,839,347
26,795,186 26,795,186 30,716,780 973,594)
(4,900,000) (4,900,000) 43099 6,247,099
4,900,000 4,900,000 5,618784 718,847
0 0 6,965,046 6,965,946

On-behalf payments for the general fund totaling3$9,378 are not budgeted by Mercer County ScBisttict.

See independent auditor's report and accompanyitgs o financial statements.
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MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - SPECIAL REVENUEFUND

REVENUES:
Other Local Sources
State Sources
Federal Sources
Other Sources
TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENDITURES:
Instructional
Student Support Services
Staff Support Services
District Administration
School Administration
Business Support Services
Plant Operation & Maintenance
Student Transportation
Food Service Operation
Central Office
Community Service Operations
Facility Acquisition & Construction
Other

TOTAL EXPENDITURES

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE
FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING

FUND BALANCES - ENDING

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

VARIANCE WITH
FINAL BUDGET
ORIGINAL INFAL POSITIVE
BUDGET BGET ACTUAL (NEGATIVE)

0 0 64,922 64,922
1,609,420 1,609,420 1,538,744 (70,676)
1,843,654 1,843,654 4,289,055 2,445,401

51,685 51,685 54,404 2,719
3,504,759 3,504,759 5,947,125 2,442,366
2,707,030 2,707,030 4,145,011 (1,437,981)

8,336 8,336 64,888 (56,552)
396,000 396,000 248,586 1417 4

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 12 (12)

88,073 88,073 147,858 (59,785)

0 0 725,124 (725,124)

0 0 15,489 (15,489)

0 0 0 0

305,320 305,320 439,81 (134,495)
0 0 67,274 (678

0 0 93,068 (93,068)
3,504,759 3,504,759 5,947,125 (2,36B)

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

See accompanying auditor's report and accompamyites to financial statements.
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MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE
OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY
TEACHERS' RETIREMENT SYSTEM
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30

District's proportion of net pension liability

District's proportionate share of the net pensiability $ -

State of Kentucky's share of the net pension ligbil
associated with the district

TOTAL

District's covered-employee payroll

District's proportionate share of the net pensiakility
as a percentage of its covered-payroll

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage otaked
pension liability

Note: Schedule isintended to show information for the last 10 fiscal years. Additional years are not displayed.
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2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00
$ 84,345,557 94,826,480 117,587,135 108,715,095 51,890,013 53,776,505 54,999,484 51,696,478 66,641,110
84,345,557 94,826,480 117,587,135 108,715,095 51,890,013 53,776,505 54,999,484 51,696,478 66,641,110
$ 12,829,760 12,915,230 13,073,489 13,233,907 13,220,586 13,303,729 13,473,699 14,404,700 14,256,511
0.00% 00%. 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00¢
45.59% 44.70% 57.04% 39.80% 59.30% 58.80% 58.27% 65.59% 41%6.



District's proportion of net pension liability
District's proportionate share of the net pensiaility

State of Kentucky's share of the net pension ligbil
associated with the district

TOTAL

District's covered-employee payroll

District's proportionate share of the net pensiaility
as a percentage of its covered-payroll

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage ofaked

pension liability

MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE
OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY
COUNTY EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
0.1824% 0.142016% 0.136863% 0.133499%  0.136748% 0.139750% 137165% 0.132847%  0.130350%

$ 4,612,000 6,106,021 6,738,586 7,814,107 8,328,370 9,828,680 10,565,694 8,470,038 9,423,019
$ 4,612,000 6,106,021 6,738,586 7,814,107 8,328,370 9,828,680 10,565,694 8,470,038 9,423,019
$ 3,341,312 3,307,880 3,277,894 3,411,902 3,554,169 3,548,411 3,430,795 3,632,265 4,157,140
138.03% 184.59% 205.58% 229.02% 234.33% 276.99% 307.97% 233.19% 6.62%
66.80% 63.46% 55.50% 53.30% 53.54% 50.45% 47.81% 57.33% 42%2.

Note: Scheduleisintended to show information for the last 10 fiscal years. Additional years are not displayed.
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Contractually required contributions
(actuarially determined)

Contributions in relation to the actuarially
determined contributions

Contribution deficiency (excess)
Covered employee payroll

Contributions as a percentage of
Covered employee payroll

MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE
TEACHERS RETIREMENT SYSTEM
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
$ - 8 - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
$ - 8 - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
$ 12,829,760 $ 12,915,230 $13,073,489 $13,233,907 $ 13,220,586 $ 13,303,729 $ 13,473,699 $ 14,404,700 $ 14,256,511

0.00%

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% .00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Note: Schedule isintended to show information for the last 10 fiscal years. Additional years are not displayed.
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MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE
COUNTY EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30

23.40%

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Contractually required contributions

(actuarially determined) $ 426,017 $ 410,839 $ 457,266 $ 494,043 $ 576487 $ 684,843 $ 662,143 $ 768,951 $ 981,263
Contributions in relation to the actuarially

determined contributions 426,017 410,839 457,266 494,043 576,487 684,843 662,143 768,951 981,263
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
Covered employee payroll $ 3,341,312 $ 3,307,880 $ 3,277,894 $ 3,411,902 $ 3,554,169 $ 3,548,411 $ 3,430,795 $ 3,632,265 $ 4,157,140
Contributions as a percentage of

Covered employee payroll 12.75% 12.42% 13.95% 48%. 16.22% 19.30% 19.30% 21.17%

Note: Schedule isintended to show information for the last 10 fiscal years. Additional years are not displayed.

59



District's proportion of net OPEB liability
District's proportionate share of the net OPEBiligb
State of Kentucky's share of the net OPEB liability

associated with the district
TOTAL

District's covered-employee payroll

District's proportionate share of the net OPEBiligb
as a percentage of its covered-payroll

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage otaked
OPERB liability

MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE

OF THE NET OPEB LIABILITY - MEDICAL INSURANCE
COUNTY EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30

2018

2019

2020

2021

2022

2023

0.133499%

0.136744%

0.139713%

0.137742%

0.132816% 016828

2,683,787 2,427,863 2,349,910 3,326,050 2,542,696 3,438,382

2,683,787 2,427,863 2,349,910 3,326,050 2,542,696 3,438,382

3,411,902 3,554,169 3,548,411 3,430,795 3,632,265 4,157,140
78.66% 68.31% 66.22% 96.95% 70.00% 82.71%
52.40% 57.62% 60.44% 51.67% 62.91% 60.95%

Note: Schedule isintended to show information for the last 10 fiscal years. Additional years are not displayed.
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District's proportion of net OPEB liability
District's proportionate share of the net OPEBiligb
State of Kentucky's share of the net OPEB liability

associated with the district
TOTAL

District's covered-employee payroll

District's proportionate share of the net OPEBiligb
as a percentage of its covered-payroll

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage otaked
OPERB liability

MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE
OF THE NET OPEB LIABILITY - MEDICAL INSURANCE PLAN
TEACHERS' RETIREMENT SYSTEM
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
0.2134% 0.2055% 0.2109% 0.2088% 0.2124% 0.2124%
7,608,000 7,131,000 6,174,000 5,270,000 4,557,000 7,083,000
6,215,000 6,146,000 4,986,000 4,222,000 3,701,000 2,327,000
13,823,000 13,277,000 11,160,000 9,492,000 8,258,000 9,410,000

$ 13,233,907 $ 13,220,586 $ 13,303,729 $ 13,473,699 $ 14,404,700 $ 14,256,511

57.49% 53.94% 46.41% 39.11% 31.64%

21.18% 25.50% 32.60% 39.05% 51.74%

Note: Schedule isintended to show information for the last 10 fiscal years. Additional years are not displayed.
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District's proportion of net OPEB liability
District's proportionate share of the net OPEBiligb
State of Kentucky's share of the net OPEB liability

associated with the district
TOTAL

District's covered-employee payroll

District's proportionate share of the net OPEBiligb
as a percentage of its covered-payroll

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage otaked
OPERB liability

MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE
OF THE NET OPEB LIABILITY - LIFE INSURANCE PLAN
TEACHERS' RETIREMENT SYSTEM
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
0.0000% 0.0000% 0.0000% 0.0000% 0.0000% 0.0000%
83,000 105,000 116,000 128,000 49,000 116,000
83,000 105,000 116,000 128,000 49,000 116,000

$ 13,233,907 $ 13,220,586 $ 13,303,729 $ 13,473,699 $ 14,404,700 $14,256,511

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

79.99% 75.00% 73.40% 71.57% 89.15%

Note: Scheduleisintended to show information for the last 10 fiscal years. Additional years are not displayed.
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Contractually required contributions
(actuarially determined)

Contributions in relation to the actuarially
determined contributions

Contribution deficiency (excess)
Covered employee payroll

Contributions as a percentage of
Covered employee payroll

MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE MEDICAL INSUARANCELAN
COUNTY EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

$ 160359 $ 186,949 $ 168904 $ 163,306 $ 209,945 $ 142,157

160,359 186,949 168,904 163,306 209,945 142,157

$ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -

$ 3,411,902 $ 3,554,169 $ 3,548,111 $ 3,430,795 $ 3,632,265 $ 4,157,140

4.70% 5.26% 4.76% 4.76% 5.78% 3.39%

Note: Scheduleisintended to show information for the last 10 fiscal years. Additional years are not displayed.
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MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE MEDICAL INSURANCELAN
TEACHERS RETIREMENT SYSTEM
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Contractually required contributions

(actuarially determined) $ 366,655 $ 396,618 $ 399,112 $ 404,211  $ 432,141  $ 427,695
Contributions in relation to the actuarially

determined contributions 366,655 396,618 399,112 404,211 432,141 427,695
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
Covered employee payroll $ 12,221,840 $ 13,220,586 $ 13,303,729 $ 13,473,699 $ 14,256,511 $ 14,256,511
Contributions as a percentage of

Covered employee payroll 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%

Note: Schedule isintended to show information for the last 10 fiscal years. Additional years are not displayed.
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MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE LIFE INSURANCE PIDMA
TEACHERS RETIREMENT SYSTEM
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30

2018 2019 2020

2021

2022 2023

Contractually required contributions
(actuarially determined) $ - $ - $ -

Contributions in relation to the actuarially
determined contributions - - -

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ - $ - $ -

$

$

Covered employee payroll $ 13,233,907 $ 13,220,586 $ 13,303,729

Contributions as a percentage of

Covered employee payroll 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Note: Scheduleisintended to show information for the last 10 fiscal years. Additional years are not displayed.
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MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE
OF THE NET PENSION LIABLITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

TEACHERS' RETIREMENT SYSTEM

NOTE A — CHANGES OF ASSUMPTIONS

In 2014, the calculation of the Single Equivalertetest Rate (SEIR) resulted in an assumption ahang
from 5.16% to 5.23%.

In 2015, the calculation of the Single Equivalertetest Rate (SEIR) resulted in an assumption ahang
from 5.23% to 4.88%.

In the 2016 valuation, rates of withdrawal, retiesmy disability and mortality were adjusted to more
closely reflect actual experience. In the 2016 atidun, the Assumed Salary Scale, Price Inflatiowl, a
Wage Inflation were adjusted to reflect a decrebsaddition, the calculation of the Single Equeratl
Interest Rate (SEIR) resulted in an assumptionghdmom 4.88% to 4.20%.

In 2017, the calculation of the Single Equivalertetest Rate (SEIR) resulted in an assumption ahang
from 4.20% to 4.49%. « In 2018, the calculatioriteff Single Equivalent Interest Rate (SEIR) resuked
an assumption change from 4.49% to 7.50%.

In the 2020 experience study, rates of withdravegirement, disability, mortality, and rates ofesl
increases were adjusted to reflect actual expeziemare closely. The expectation of mortality was
changed to the Pub2010 Mortality Tables (TeachergeBt-Weighted) projected generationally with MP-
2020 with various set forwards, set-backs, andstajents for each of the groups; service retirees,
contingent annuitants, disabled retirees, and etiVhe assumed long-term investment rate of retam
changed from 7.50 percent to 7.10 percent andrtbe mflation assumption was lowered from 3.00
percent to 2.50 percent. In addition, the calcafatf the SEIR results in an assumption change from
7.50% to 7.10%.

NOTE B — METHOD AND ASSUMPTIONS USED IN CALCULATION S OF ACTUARIALLY
DETERMINED CONTRIBUTIONS

The actuarially determined contribution rates & $ichedule of employer contributions are calculated
of June 30, three years prior to the end of theafigear in which contributions are reported. The
following actuarial methods and assumptions weeelus determine contribution rates reported in the
most recent year of the schedule:

Actuarial Cost Method Entry age

Amortization Period Level percentage of payroll, closed

Remaining amortization period 21.9 years

Asset valuation method 5-year smoothed market

Inflation 2.50%

Salary Increase 3.00% to 7.50%, includes wage inflation at 2.75%
Investment rate of return 7.10 %, includes pridaiion at 2.50%
Cost-of-living adjustments 1.50% annually

NOTE C — CHANGES OF BENEFITS

2022: A new benefit tier was added for memberdrgjithe System on and after January 1, 2022. A
complete listing of benefits can be found withie teport at https://trs.ky.gov/wp-
content/uploads/2023/06/TRS-GASB-68-Report-2022140¢. pdf.
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MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE
OF THE NET PENSION LIABLITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

COUNTY EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM

NOTE A — CHANGES OF ASSUMPTIONS

2015

The following changes were made by the Kentuckyidlature and reflected in the valuation performed
as of June 30, 2015:

2016

The assumed investment rate of return was deddasa 7.75% to 7.50%.
The assumed inflation rate was reduced from 3%3255%.

The assumed rate of wage inflation was reduced r@®0% to .75%.
Payroll growth assumption was reduced from 4.5%%#0

The mortality table used for active members isZRBO Combined Mortality Table projected
with Scale BB to 2013 (multiplied by 50% for mabesd 30% for females).

For healthy retired members and beneficiariespibgality table used is the RP-2000 Combined
Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 20018t(back 1 year for females). For disabled
members, the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table ptejé with Scale BB to 2013 (set back 4
years for males) is used for the period after diggalbetirement.

The assumed rates of Retirement, Withdrawal asdlity were updated to more accurately
reflect experience.

There were no changes of assumptions for the yedeJune 30, 2016.

2017

The following changes were made by the KRS Boartrostees and reflected in the valuation performed
as of June 30, 2017:

2018

The assumed rate of inflation was reduced to 2.86% 3.25%

The assumed salary increases were reduced to 3a8&¥age, from 4.00%, average including
inflation

The assumed investment rate of return was redinc@@5% from 7.50%

There were no changes in assumptions.

2019

The following changes were made by the KRS Boartrostees and reflected in the valuation performed
as of June 30, 2019:
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MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE
OF THE NET PENSION LIABLITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

COUNTY EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM (CONTINUED)

The projected salary increase was changed to 3534lfrom 3.05%

The asset valuation method was changed to 20%edfifference between the market value assets and
the expected actuarial value of assets if recogrfizen 5-year smoothed market.

The payroll growth rate was changed to 2.0% fro@9el.
The investment rate of return was change to 6.26% 7.5%.
The inflation rate was changed to 2.3% from 3.25%.

2020
There were no changes of assumptions for the yehkrdeJune 30, 2020.

2021
There were no changes of assumptions for the yehkrdeJune 30, 2021.

2022
There were no changes of assumptions for the yedeJune 30, 2022.

68



MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE
OF THE NET PENSION LIABLITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE B — METHOD AND ASSUMPTIONS USED IN CALCULATION S OF ACTUARIALLY
DETERMINED CONTRIBUTIONS

The following actuarial methods and assumptionsewesed to determine the rates reported in that
schedule:

Valuation Date June 30, 2020

Experience Study July 1, 2008 — June 30, 2013
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal

Amortization Method Level percent of pay

Remaining Amortization Period 30 years closed pkabJune30, 2019

Gaing/lossesincurring after 2019 will be
amortized over separate 20-year amortization

basis
Payroll Growth Rate 2.00%
Asset Valuation Method 20% of the difference betwd® market value

of assets and the expected actuarial value of
assets is recognized

Inflation 2.30 percent

Salary Increase 3.30-10.30 percent, varies bycgerv
Investment Rate of Return 6.25 percent

Phase-In Provision Board certified rate is phasealthe actuarially

determined rate in accordance with HB 362
enacted in 2018 for CERS

The retiree mortality is a System-specific morjaléble based on mortality experience from 20138201
projected with the ultimate rates from MP-2014 ralit improvement scale using a base year of 2019.

NOTE C — CHANGES OF BENEFITS
There were no changes in benefits for CERS nonrtlama pensions.
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MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE
OF THE NET OPEB LIABLITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

TEACHERS' RETIREMENT SYSTEM

NOTE A — CHANGES OF ASSUMPTIONS
2017
There were no changes in assumptions.

2018
There were no changes in assumptions.

2019
There were no changes in assumptions.

2020
Health Care Cost Trend Rates were updated foruhe 30, 2019 valuation.

2021

Health Trust and Life Trust

In the 2020 experience study, rates of withdravedirement, disability, mortality, and rates ofassl
increases were adjusted to reflect actual expegiemare closely. The expectation of mortality was
changed to the Pub2010 Mortality Tables (TeacherseBt-Weighted) projected generationally with MP-
2020 with various set forwards, set-backs, andstajents for each of the groups; service retirees,
contingent annuitants, disabled retirees, and egtiv

The assumed long-term investment rate of returnalvasged from 8.00% for the Health Trust and
7.50% for the Life Trust to 7.10%. The price iniftet assumption was lowered from 3.00% to 2.50%.

The rates of member participation and spousalgipation were adjusted to reflect actual experience
more closely.

2022
The health care trend rates were updated to rdtlagte anticipated experience.

NOTE B — METHOD AND ASSUMPTIONS USED IN CALCULATION S OF ACTUARIALLY
DETERMINED CONTRIBUTIONS

The Health Trust is not funded based on an aclyadatermined contribution, but instead is funded
based on statutorily determined amounts.

NOTE C — CHANGES OF BENEFITS
2022: A new benefit tier was added for memberdrjgithe System on and after January 1, 2022. A

description of benefit provisions applicable toshenembers can be found at https://trs.ky.gov/wp-
content/uploads/2023/06/TRS-GASB-75-Report_6.3@2dD-6.30.2023-RD-FINAL.pdf.

70



MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE
OF THE NET OPEB LIABLITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

COUNTY EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM

NOTE A — CHANGES OF ASSUMPTIONS

N

1

\l

The assumed investment return was changed from @ ®2%

The price inflation assumption was changed fron8% 20 2.30% which resulted in a .95% decrease in
the salary increase assumption at all years ofcgerv

The payroll growth assumption (*applicable for #raortization of unfunded actuarial accrued liaiei)
was changed from 4.0% to 2.0%

For the non-hazardous plan, the single discouatalaginged from 6.89% to 5.84%. For the hazardous
plan the single discount rate changed from 7.37%936%

N

1

(o]

There were no changes in assumptions.

N

1

©

The investment rate of return was changed to 6.266% 7.0%.
The projected salary increases changed to 3.0%%ifom 4.0%.
The inflation rate changed to 2.3% from 3.25%.

The payroll growth rate changed to 2.0% from 4.0%.

N

2

o

There were no changes in assumptions.

N

2

=

The single discount rates used to calculate tlz @PEB liability changed since the prior year.eTh
assumed increase in future health care costsgmmd sissumption, was reviewed during the June 3 20
valuation process and was updated to better refiegblan’s long-term healthcare costs.

N

2

N

There were no changes in assumptions.
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MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE
OF THE NET OPEB LIABLITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

COUNTY EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM (CONTINUED)

NOTE B — METHOD AND ASSUMPTIONS USED IN CALCULATION S OF ACTUARIALLY
DETERMINED CONTRIBUTIONS

Methods and assumptions used in the actuarially determined contributions — The actuarially determined
contribution rates, as a percentage of payrolld iseletermine the actuarially determined contrdout
amounts in the Schedule of Employer Contributicrescalculated as the of the indicated valuatioe.dat
The following actuarial methods and assumptioren{fthe indicated actuarial valuations) were used to
determine contribution rates reported in that sakeetbr the year ending June 30, 2021:

Valuation Date June 30, 2020

Experience Study July 1, 2013 — June 30, 2018
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal
Amortization Method Level percent of pay
Remaining Amortization Period 30 years, closed

Gaing/losses incurring after 2019 will be amortized over
separate closed 20-year amortization bases

Payroll Growth Rate 2.00%
Asset Valuation Method 20% of the difference betwie market value of assets
and the expected actuarial value of assets is nioed)
Inflation 2.30%
Salary Increase 3.30%-10.30%, varies by service
Investment Rate of Return 6.25 %
Healthcare cost trend rates
Pre - 65 Initial trend starting at 6.40% at Japudar2022 and

gradually decreasing to an ultimate trend rate.@5%
over a period of 13 years. The 2021 premiums were
known at the time of valuation and were incorpatate
into the liability measurement.

Post - 65 Initial trend starting at 6.30% at Jaypda 2023 and
gradually decreasing to an ultimate trend rate.05%
over a period of 13 years. The 2021 premiums were
known at the time of valuation and were incorpatate
into the liability measurement.

NOTE C — CHANGES OF BENEFITS

There were no changes in benefits for CERS, noardans OPEB.
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MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2023

TOTAL
CAPITAL DEBT DISTRICT STUDENT NON-MAJOR
OUTLAY BUILDING SERVICE ACTIVITY ACTIVITY GOVERNMENT
FUND FUND FON FUND FUND FUNDS
ASSETS:
Cash & Cash Equivalents 510 1,219 0 539,314 51,257 ,3602
Accounts Receivable 0
TOTAL ASSETS 510 1,219 0 539,314 51,257 592,300
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES:
Liabilities:
Accounts Payalt
Total Liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0
Fund Balances:
Restricted for:
SFCC Escrow 510 1,219 1,729
School Activities 539,314 539,314
Student Activities 51,257 51,257
Total Fund Balances 510 1,219 0 539,314 51,257 592,300
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
FUND BALANCES 510 1,219 0 539,314 51,257 592,300

See independent auditor's report and accompanyites o financial statements.
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REVENUES:
Taxes
Intergovernmental - State
Other Sources

TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENDITURES:
Instructional
Staff Support Services
Student Transportation
Other Instructional
Debt Service:
Principal
Interest
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

EXCESS(DEFICIT) REVENUES OVER
EXPENDITURES

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES(USES):
Operating Transfers In
Operating Transfers Out
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING
SOURCES (USES)
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES
FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING

FUND BALANCES - ENDING

MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES AN CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

TOTAL
CAPITAL DEBT DISTRICT STUDENT NON-MAJOR
OUTLAY BUILDING  SERVICE ACTIVITY ACTIVITY GOVERNMENT
FUND FUND FUND URD FUND FUNDS
2,405,304 2,405,304
254,910 1,479,530 183,550 1,917,990
449,932 165,057 614,989
254,910 3,884,834 183,550 449,932 165,057 4,938,283
426,440 116,101 542,541
30,045 30,045
64,528 64,528
0
2,540,000 2,540,000
882,507 882,507
0 0 3,422,507 456,485 180,629 4,059,62
254,910 3,884,834 (3,238,957) (6,553) 5,512) 878,662
3,238,957 2,900 5,400 3,247,257
(254,910) (3,884,834) 0 @) 4 0 (4,145,144)
(254,910) (3,884,834) 3,238,957 5009, 5,400 (897,887)
0 0 0 (9,053) (10,172) (1932
510 1,219 0 548,367 61,429 6325
510 1,219 0 539,314 51,257 592,300

See independent auditor's report and accompanyites o financial statements.
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MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRIC
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES ANDUND BALANCES
STUDENT ACTIVITY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

BALANCE BALANCE

JULY 1, 202: REVENUES EXPENDITURES JUNE 30, 202
Mercer County Senior High Sche 38,31t 51,48t 54,25¢ 35,54:
King Middle Schoc 9,08¢ 58,71¢ 61,66: 6,141
Mercer Centra 1,81( 54C 30 2,32(
Mercer County Intermediate Sch 11,50¢ 39,20: 45,68¢ 5,02¢
Mercer County Elementary Sch 71C 20,51t 18,99¢ 2,23(
Fund Balanc 61,42¢ 170,45° 180,62 51,25}

See independent accountant's report and accomangtas to financial statements.
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Titan School Store
Student Vending
Pep Club
Weights

THIRST

Band SAF

Beta Club

Beta Scholarship
Chess Club
MCHS Book Club
KYA/KUNA

FCA Club
Republican Club
Unity Club

FFA Club

FCCLA CLUB
Engineering Club
Educator Rising

Natinal Honor Society

Spanish Club
Student Council
Key Club

Film

Envirothon Team
Academic Team
UM Club

Field Trips
DECA Club
Project Graduation
General

Total All Funds

Transfer Out to GF
Total

STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS, DISBURSEMENTS AND FUND BALADE
HIGH SCHOOL ACTIVITY FUND

MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

FUND
BALANCE FUND BALANCE BALANCE
JULY 1,2022 RECEIPTS  DISBURSEMENTS JUNE 30, 2023 B8O, 2023
202 0 0 202 202
1,249 0 575 674 674
389 630 178 841 841
552 2,820 2,038 1,334 1,334
24 0 0 24 24
9,155 0 7,900 1,255 1,255
1,644 1,395 1,929 1,110 1,110
170 0 0 170 170
677 0 0 677 677
612 93 233 472 472
556 6,047 5,706 897 897
658 194 0 852 852
111 0 0 111 111
206 0 0 206 206
16,189 22,011 18,858 19,342 19,342
2,864 1,799 1,924 2,739 2,739
674 0 0 674 674
130 1,185 1,227 88 88
793 1,376 1,393 776 776
1,186 359 588 957 957
1,534 0 559 975 975
66 0 0 66 66
121 0 0 121 121
75 0 0 75 75
0 847 475 372 372
0 530 202 328 328
0 340 249 91 91
0 1,620 1,507 113 113
0 8,717 8,717 0 0
(1,522) 1,522 0 0 0
38,315 51,485 54,258 35,542 35,542
0 0 0
51,485 54 258 35,542 35,542

38,315
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MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

FEDERAL GRANTOR/PASS-THROUGH
GRANTOR/PROGRAM TITLE
U.S. Department of Education
Passed-Through Department of Educe
Title | - Parent Involveme
Title | - Parent Involveme
Title | - Grants to Local Educational Agenc
Title | - Parent Involveme
Title | - Grants to Local Educational Agenc
Title | Grants to Local Educational Agerscieota

Title I, Neglected and Delinquent Children anoluth

Title Il Supporting Effective Instruction StaBrant:

Title Il Supporting Effective Instruction StaBrant:

Title Il Supporting Effective Instruction StaBrant:
Title 1l Supporting Effective Instructiortee Grant

Perkins Voc
Perkins Voc
Perkins Voc. Tot:

Title 1V, Part A - Student Support and AcademitiEhmen
Title 1V, Part A - Student Support and AcademitiEhmen
Title 1V, Part A - Student Support and AcademitiEhmen
Title 1V, Part A - Student Support and AcademitiEhmen
Title 1V, Part A - Student Support and AcademitiEhmen
Title 1V, Part A - Student Support and AcademitiEhmen
Title 1V, Part A - Student Support and AcademitiEhmen
Title 1V, Part A - Student Support and Acate Enrichment Tote

IDEA - Special Education - Grants to S
IDEA - Special Education - Grants to S
IDEA - Special Education - Preschool Gri
COVID-19 - ARP IDE/
COVID-19 - ARP IDEA Prescha

Special Education Clus

COVID-19 - Elementary & Secondary School EmenyeRelief Fun
COVID-19 - Elementary & Secondary School EmenyeRelief Fun
COVID-19 - Elementary & Secondary School EmenyeRelief Funi
COVID-19 - Elementary & Secondary School EmenyeRelief Fun
COVID-19 - Elementary & Secondary School EmenyeRelief Fun
COVID-19 - Elementary & Secondary School EmenyeRelief Fun:

PASS
THROUGH MUNIS
CFDA NUMBER  PROJECT

NUMBER (if applicable) NUMBER EXPENDITURES
84.01( 310000: 310FN 1,53t
84.01( 310000: 31GM 8,29¢
84.01( 310000: 310l 349,79
84.01( 310000: 310IM 8,21¢
84.01( 310000: 310. 400,46

768,30" *
84.01: 313. 313. 26,20(
84.36° 323000: 401C 75E
84.36° 323000: 4011 12,28¢
84.36° 323000: 401. 128,85¢
141,89¢
84.04¢ 371000t 348IA 2,12¢
84.04¢ 371000t 348, 30,98¢
33,11(
84.42: 34200: 552G 16,96¢
84.42: 34200: 552G1 2,591
84.42: 34200: 5521< 19,58¢
84.42: 34200: 552IT 90¢
84.42: 34200: 552IW 15,40¢
84.42: 34200: 552J¢ 2,321
84.42: 34200: 552JW 9,20¢
66,98¢
84.02; 381000: 337l 10,42¢
84.02; 381000: 337. 581,90¢
84.17: 380000: 343, 56,71¢
84.027> 491000: 478 65,93:
84.173> 490000: 488 4,451
719,43
84.425L 420000: 554C 26,30¢
84.425L 420000: 554GL 571,42:
84.425L 420000: 554G 47,70:
84.4250 430000: 563. 12,58(
84.425( 420000 564GF 89,73«
84.4250 430000: 473C 1,324,94:




COVID-19 - Elementary & Secondary School EmenyeRelief Fun

COVID-19 - Elementary & Secondary School EmenyeRelief Fun

COVID-19 - Elementary & Secondary School EmenyeRelief Fun
COVID-19 Education Stabilization Fund Tc

Passed Through Berea Coll
Gaining Early Awareness and Readiness for Unddtte Prograrn

Total U.S. Department of Educat

U.S. Department of Health and Human Sen
Passed-Through Kentucky Department of Educ
COVID-19 Preschool Partnership Gi

U.S. Department of Agricultu

Passed-Through State Department of Educ
Summer Meal Progra
Summer Meal Progra
National School Lunchroc
National School Lunchroc
National School Lunchroc
National School Lunchroc
School Breakfast Progri
School Breakfast Progri

Child Nutrition Cluste

Child & Adult Care Food Progre
Child & Adult Care Food Progre
Child & Adult Care Food Progre
Child & Adult Care Food Progre
Child & Adult Care Food Program Tc

State Administrative Expenses for Child Nutri
State P-EBT Administrative Costs Gi

Passed Through State Department of AgricL
Food Distributio

Total U.S. Department of AgricultL

Total Federal Financial Assistal

* Tested as major progre

77

84.425L
84.425L
84.425L

84.334¢

93.57¢

10.55¢
10.55¢
10.55¢
10.55¢
10.55¢
10.55¢
10.55:
10.55:

10.55¢
10.55¢
10.55¢
10.55¢
10.56(

10.64¢

10.56¢

430000!
430000!
430000:

614,

562JF

7690024-2
7740023-2
7750002-2
7750002-2
9980000-2
9980000-2
7760005-2
7760005-2

7790021-2
7790021-2
7800016-2
7800016-2
7700001-2

9990000-2

057502-11

473GE
473GC
473GL

614.

562JF

7690024-2
7740023-2
7750002-2
7750002-2
9980000-2
9980000-2
7760005-2
7760005-2

7790021-2
7790021-2
7800016-2
7800016-2
7700001-2

9990000-2

057502-11

2,75z
3,34
185,95t

2,264,74. *

2,66:

4,023,34.

147,68!

2,04(
19,58¢
299,64!
1,261,77!
67,97¢
32,40z
97,09¢
480,90:

2,261,421 *

12,03«
29,18:
89¢
2,172

44,28:
1,271

3,13¢

161,69¢

2,471,80

6,642,83




MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE A — BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of fédarards (the Schedule) includes the federal award
activity of the Mercer County School District ungeograms of the federal government for the year
ended June 30, 2023. The information in this Scleeidipresented in accordance with the requirements
of Title 2 U.S.Code of Federal Regulatiof&art 200Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Ade{iJniform Guidance. Because the Schedule
presents only a selected portion of the operatbhdercer County School District, it is not interti®

and does not present the financial position, cheumgaet asset, or cash flows of Mercer County 8tho
District.

NOTE B — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reportéde accrual basis of accounting for proprietary
funds and the modified accrual basis of accourfongovernmental funds. Such expenditures are
recognized following the cost principles contairethe Uniform Guidance wherein certain types of
expenditures are not allowable or are limited agitmbursement. Negative amounts shown on the
Schedule represent adjustments or credits madeindrmal course of business to amounts reported as
expenditures in prior years. Pass-through entytiflying numbers are present where available.

NOTE C — FOOD DISTRIBUTION

Nonmonetary assistance is reported in the schedule fair value of the commodities disbursed.

NOTE D — DE MINIMIS COST RATE

The District did not elect to use the 10 percentnil@mis cost rate as allowed under the Uniform
Guidance.

NOTE E — SUBRECIPIENTS

There were no subrecipients during the fiscal year.
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MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
Section | — Summary of Auditor’'s Results
Financial Statements

Type of audit issued: Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:

o Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X0 N
¢ Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are
not considered to be material weakness(es)? Yes X None Reported
Noncompliance material to financial statements aidte Yes X No

Federal Awards

Internal control over major programs?

e Material weakness(es) identified? Yes XNo
e Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are
not considered to be material weakness(es)? Yes X None Reported

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance fajon programs (unmodified):

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to
be reported in accordance with 2 CFR section 2@j51? Yes X No

Identification of major programs:

CFEDA Number Name of Federal Prograr@lmister
84.425C/84.425D/84.425U COVID-19 Educatioalization Fund
84.010 Title 1, Grants to Local Education Ages
10.555/10.553/10.559 Child Nutrition Cluster

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between

Type A and Type B programs: $750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? X sYe No

Section Il — Financial Statement of Findings
No matters were reported.
Section Il — Federal Award Findings and QuestionedCosts

No matters were reported.
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MERCER COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF PRIOR YEAR AUDIT FINDINGS
JUNE 30, 2023

There were no prior year audit findings.
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WHITE AND COMPANY, P.S.C.
Certified Public Accountants
219 South Proctor Knott Avenue
Lebanon, Kentucky 40033
(270) 692-2102
Fax (270) 692-2101

Charles M. White, CPA Email: charles.white@whitecpas.com
Stephanie A. Abell, CPA

November 1, 2023

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OV ER FINANCIAL
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Members of the Board of Education
Mercer County School District
Harrodsburg, Kentucky

We have audited, in accordance with the auditiagddrds generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to finanailita contained irGovernment Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the UnitedeStaandAppendix | to the Independent Auditor’s
Contract — Audit Extension Request, Appendix theolndependent Auditor's Contract — Instructioos f
Submission of the Audit Contract, Audit AcceptaBtatement, AFR and Balance Sheet, Statement of
Certification, and Audit Reporthe financial statements of the governmental aai the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate iringa fund information of Mercer County School
District, as of and for the year ended June 3032@2d the related notes to the financial statespent
which collectively comprise Mercer County Schookfiict's basic financial statements, and have dsue
our report thereon dated November 1, 2023.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the finad@tatements, we considered Mercer County School
District’s internal control over financial reporgin(internal control) as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstafmethe purpose of expressing our opinions on the
financial statements, but not for the purpose giressing an opinion on the effectiveness of theckter
County School District’s internal control. Accandly, we do not express an opinion on the effectss

of the Mercer County School District’s internal tah

A deficiency in internal controkexists when the design or operation of a contratsdoot allow
management or employees, in the normal course rdbrp@ng their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct misstatements on a timely bAsmaterial weakness a deficiency, or combination
of deficiencies, in internal control such that thés a reasonable possibility that a material raiestent

of the entity’s financial statements will not beepented, or detected and corrected on a timelys bAsi
significant deficiencys a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies,internal control that is less
severe than a material weakness, yet important gdnda merit attention by those charged with
governance.
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Our consideration of internal control was for thmited purpose described in the first paragrapthisf
section and was not designed to identify all deficies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or, significant deficiencies. GivendHigsitations, during our audit we did not identdyny
deficiencies in internal control that we considebé material weaknesses. However, material weakses
or significant deficiencies may exist that have Imegn identified.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance aboutheheéercer County School District's financial
statements are free from material misstatement,paormed tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, andhgesreements, noncompliance with which could fave
direct and material effect on the financial statetee However, providing an opinion on compliangthw
those provisions was not an objective of our awatit] accordingly, we do not express such an opinion
The results of our tests disclosed no instancawpEompliance or other matters that are requirdoeto
reported undeGGovernment Auditing Standard$n addition, the results of our tests disclosednaterial
instances of noncompliance of specific state statudr regulation identified iMppendix Il of the
Independent Auditor's Contract — State Audit Reguients.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to descriledtope of our testing of internal control and climmge
and the results of that testing, and not to prowdepinion on the effectiveness of the entityteiinal
control or on compliance. This report is an intégrart of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standardsconsidering the entity’s internal control andrgmiance. Accordingly,
this communication is not suitable for any othemose.

Sincerely,
White and Company, P.S.C.

Certified Public Accountants
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WHITE AND COMPANY, P.S.C.
Certified Public Accountants
219 South Proctor Knott Avenue
Lebanon, Kentucky 40033
(270) 692-2102
Fax (270) 692-2101

Charles M. White, CPA Email: charles.white@whitecpas.com
Stephanie A. Abell, CPA

November 1, 2023

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR
PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQ UIRED
BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

Members of the Board of Education
Mercer County School District
Harrodsburg, Kentucky

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We have audited Mercer County School District's pbance with the types of compliance requirements
identified as subject to audit in the OMBomplianceSupplementhat could have a direct and material
effect on each of Mercer County School District'sjan federal programs for the year ended June 30,
2023. Mercer County School District’'s major fedggedgrams are identified in the summary of aud#or’
results section of the accompanying schedule diffggs and questioned costs.

In our opinion, Mercer County School District comapl, in all material respects, with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above thatdchave a direct and material effect on each of its
major federal programs for the year ended Jun@®23.

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordamitle auditing standards generally accepted in the
United State of America; the standards applicabléntancial audits contained iBovernment Auditing
Standardsissued by the Comptroller General of the Unitéates; and the audit requirements of Title 2
U.S. Code of Federal Regulatiorf3art 200,Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Princgpland
Audit Requirements for Federal Awardeniform Guidance); andAppendix | to the Independent
Auditor's Contract — Audit Extension Request, Agjperil to the Independent Auditor's Contract —
Instructions for Submission of the Audit Contrafidit Acceptance Statement, AFR and Balance Sheet,
Statement of Certification, and Audit Repo@ur responsibilities under those standards andJthirm
Guidance are further described in the Auditor’'s jResibilities for the Audit of Compliance sectioh o
our report.

We are required to be independent of Mercer Co@uliool District and to meet our other ethical
responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethiequirements relating to our audit. We belidvat
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion o
compliance for each major federal program. Ouitadmes not provide a legal determination of Mercer
County School District’s compliance with the conapite requirements referred to above.
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Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with #guirements referred to above and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of effective iraegontrol over compliance with the requirements of
laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisiginsontracts or grant agreements applicable to bterc
County School District’s federal programs.

Auditor's Responsibility for the Audit of Compliarec

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurabhoetavhether material noncompliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above occundtther due to fraud or error, and express an
opinion on Mercer County School District's complianbased on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance but is not absolute asseramd therefore is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with generally acceptedtiagdstandardsGovernment Auditing Standards
and the Uniform Guidance will always detect matemancompliance when it exists. The risk of not
detecting material noncompliance resulting fronudtrés higher than for that resulting from error frasid

may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omiss# misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control. Noncompliance with the compliance requieats referred to above is considered material if
there is a substantial likelihood that, individyatir in the aggregate, it would influence the juegn
made by a reasonable user of the report on congeliabout Mercer County School District's compliance
with the requirements of each major federal progaama whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with generaltgepted auditing standarddovernment Auditing
Standardsand the Uniform Guidance we:

o Exercise professional judgment and maintain pridess$ skepticism throughout the audit.

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material noncampk, whether due to fraud or error, and design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risksch procedures include examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding Mercer County School ribit compliance with the compliance
requirements referred to above and performing silclr procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances.

e Obtain an understanding of Mercer County Schooltrl@is internal control over compliance
relevant to the audit in order to design audit pthoes that are appropriate in the circumstances an
to test and report on internal control over comp&in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion orefifectiveness of Mercer County School District's
internal control over compliance. Accordingly, such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those chargédgovernance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and any fogmt deficiencies and material weaknesses innate
control over compliance that we identified durihg audit.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over complianegists when the design or operation of a contr@rov
compliance does not allow management or employedise normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, nong@nce with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program on a timely basis nfaterial weakness in internal control over comptiais a

deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in imtal control over compliance, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that material noncomplianith a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program will not be prevented, or detected andexted, on a timely basis. #gnificant deficiency in
internal control over compliande a deficiency, or a combination of deficienciesnternal control over
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compliance with a type of compliance requiremera ééderal program that is less severe than a iakter
weakness in internal control over compliance, ygtartant enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over comptiarwas for the limited purpose described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Comptiee section above and was not designed to ideadtify
deficiencies in internal control over complianceattmight be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies in internal control over complianc&iven these limitations, during our audit we did no
identify any deficiencies in internal control ov@mpliance that we consider to be material wealasess
as defined above. However, material weaknessesigoificant deficiencies in internal control over
compliance may exit that were not identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of esqimg an opinion on the effectiveness of internal
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such déginis expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control ogeempliance is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over compliance andbgults of that testing based on the requiremafritse
Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is naitable for any other purpose.

Sincerely,
White and Company, P.S.C.

Certified Public Accountants
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WHITE AND COMPANY, P.S.C.
Certified Public Accountants
219 South Proctor Knott Avenue
Lebanon, Kentucky 40033
(270) 692-2102
Fax (270) 692-2101

Charles M. White, CPA Email charles.white@whitecpas.com
Stephanie A. Abell, CPA

November 1, 2023
MANAGEMENT LETTER

Members of the Board of Education
Mercer County School District
Harrodsburg, Kentucky

In planning and performing our audit of the finardtatements of Mercer County School Districttfor
year ended June 30, 2023, we considered its intteon&rol in order to determine our auditing process

for the purpose of expressing our opinion on tharicial statements. Our professional standardsre=q
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reabmassurance about whether the financial statsmen
are free of material misstatement. We feel that Bhistrict’s financial statements are free of mater
misstatement. However, we offer the following segfions that we feel will strengthen your
organization’s internal control structure.

Prior Year Recommendations — School Activity Funds:

None.

Current Year Recommendations — School Activity Fund:

None.

Prior Year Recommendations — District Level:

2022-1 Prior Year Recommendation:

During prior year testing, two instances of a lathk receiving report were noted for a Districtdev
disbursement. We recommend that receiving reporsiggned invoices indicating receipt of goods be
documented with all applicable disbursements.

Current Year Status:

During current year testing, two instances of & lafca receiving report were noted for a Distritél
disbursement. However, both instances were poiting District’s receipt of this prior year repartd no
additional instances were found.
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Current Year Recommendations — District Level:

2023-1 Current Year Recommendation:

During current year testing, an invoice for attargkaat a conference was reviewed. The invoicdlddta
5 attendees. It was noted that 4 of the 5 attendeee registered prior to the approval of the
corresponding purchase order. While we believetti@aDistrict employees had approval to attendrpri
to registering, we recommend that purchase ordepdperly completed and approved prior to
participants registering since prior approval keg control for the District.

Management Response:

We will encourage employees to ensure a purchaier & properly approved prior to incurring Distric
expenses.

We would like to offer our assistance throughow ylear if and when new or unusual situations arise.
Our awareness of new developments when they ocouldvihelp to ensure that the District is complying
with requirements such as those mentioned above.

Sincerely,

White and Company, P.S.C.

Certified Public Accountants
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WHITE AND COMPANY, P.S.C.
Certified Public Accountants
219 South Proctor Knott Avenue
Lebanon, Kentucky 40033
(270) 692-2102
Fax (270) 692-2101

Charles M. White, CPA Email: charles.white@whitecpas.com
Stephanie A. Abell, CPA

November 1, 2023

Members of the Board of Education
Mercer County School District
Harrodsburg, Kentucky

We have audited the financial statements of thegoaental activities, the business-type activitgzgh
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund in&dirom of Mercer County School District for the year
ended June 30, 2023. Professional standards eethdt we provide you with information about our
responsibilities under generally accepted audistandards (and, if applicabl§overnment Auditing
Standardsand the Uniform Guidance), as well as certainrimgtion related to the planned scope and
timing of our audit. We have communicated suchrmiation in our letter to you dated April 17, 2023.
Professional standards also require that we congateito you the following information related torou
audit.

Significant Audit Matters:

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices

Management is responsible for the selection andfis@propriate accounting policies. The significa
accounting polices used by Mercer County Schootridtsare described in Note A to the financial
statements. As described in Note A to the findrsti@ements, the District changed policies related
Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangetaeby adopting Statement of Governmental
Accounting Standards No. 98ubscription-Based Information Technology Arrangeisien 2023. The
District did not have a cumulative prior period iagp as its only applicable lease began in the géar
adoption. No other new accounting policies werepaeld and the application of existing policies was
changed during 2023. We noted no transactionseghtato by Mercer County School District during th
year for which there is a lack of authoritativedance or consensus. All significant transactiosngeh
been recognized in the financial statements irptbper period.

Accounting estimates are an integral part of tnarfcial statements prepared by management and are
based on management’s knowledge and experiencé phstuand current events and assumptions about
future events. Certain accounting estimates arécpkarly sensitive because of their significartoghe
financial statements and because of the possibiligt future events affecting them may differ
significantly from those expected. The most saresistimate affecting the financial statements:was

Management's estimate of the sick leave liabilitypased on current pay rates and those
currently eligible for retirement. We evaluate@ tkey factors and assumptions used to

develop the sick leave liability in determining thais reasonable in relation to the
financial statements taken as a whole.

The financial statement disclosures are neutralsistent, and clear.
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Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dagliwith management in performing and completing our
audit.

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements

Professional standards require us to accumulatanailvn and likely misstatements identified durihg t
audit, other than those that are clearly triviahd acommunicate them to the appropriate level of
management. Management has corrected all suchateisents. In addition, none of the misstatements
detected as a result of audit procedures and ¢eddy management were material, either indivigua|

in the aggregate, to each opinion unit’s finanstatements taken as a whole.

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement witmagament is a financial accounting, reporting, or
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to ours&attion, that could be significant to the finaaici
statements or the auditor’s report. We are pletsedport that no such disagreements arose dthiang
course of our audit.

Management Representations

We have requested certain representations from geament that are included in the management
representation letter dated November 1, 2023.

Management Consultations with Other Independenbéatants

In some cases, management may decide to conshlothier accountants about auditing and accounting
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” oertain situations. If a consultation involves
application of an accounting principle to Merceru@ty School District’s financial statements or a
determination of the type of auditor’s opinion thedy be expressed on those statements, our prafessi
standards require the consulting accountant tokchéth us to determine that the consultant haghel
relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were rah @wnsultations with other accountants.

Other Audit Findings or Issues

We generally discuss a variety of matters, inclgdime application of accounting principles and &ngi
standards, with management each year prior totieteas Mercer County School District's auditors.
However, these discussions occurred in the norroatse of our professional relationship and our
responses were not a condition to our retention.

Other Matters

We applied certain limited procedures to manageimediscussion and analysis and budgetary
comparison information, which are required suppletagy information (RSI) that supplements the basic
financial statements. Our procedures consistehapiiries of management regarding the methods of
preparing the information and comparing the infarorafor consistency with management’s responses to
our inquiries, the basic financial statements, atiter knowledge we obtained during our audit of the
basic financial statements. We did not audit ti& Bnd do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on the RSI.

We were not engaged to report on the budgetary adegm information on pages 58 and 59, or on the

schedules of the district’'s proportionate shareetfpension liabilities and other post-employmeanidiit

plans on pages 60-61 and 64-66, or on the schedilentributions to the County Employees

Retirement System and Teachers Retirement Systasigmeplans or the County Employees Retirement
89



System and Teachers Retirement System other pgdtgment benefit plans on pages 62-63 and 67-69,
which accompany the financial statements but ateR&). Such information has not been subjected to
the auditing procedures applied in the audit ofdasic financial statements, and accordingly, waalo
express an opinion or provide any assurance on it.

Restriction on Use

This information is intended solely for the infortioa and use of Members of the Board of Education
and management of Mercer County School Districtiambt intended to be, and should not be, used by
anyone other than these specified parties.

Sincerely,

White and Company, P.S.C.

Certified Public Accountants
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